AN EVALUATION OF ADOLESCENTS' RELATIONSHIP WITH PRAYER AND PEDAGOGICAL METHODOLOGIES FOR TEACHING PRAYER IN A JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOL FOR BOYS

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF
THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF APPLIED AND PROFESSIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

OF

RUTGERS THE STATE UNIVERSITY OF NEW JERSEY

BY

BENJAMIN N. LEIBOWITZ

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

OF

DOCTOR OF PSYCHOLOGY

NEW BRUNSWICK, NJ

AUGUST 2019

APPROVED:	Kenneth Schneider, Ph.D.
	Jeffrey Segal, Psy.D.
DEAN:	Francine Conway, Ph.D.

ABSTRACT

Jewish law mandates that three times daily male adults gather in a synagogue to pray (Berakhot, p. 4:1) in a quorum of at least ten males who reached the age of thirteen (Karo, 1563, p. 90:9; Talmud Berakhot, p. 8a). However, a 2017 study indicates that only 33% of American Jewish modern- orthodox (JMO) males between the ages of 18-54 attend weekday morning services, and only 21% attend weekday afternoon and night services. Additionally, only 82% indicate that they find prayer either somewhat or fully meaningful (The Nishma Research Profile of American Modern Orthodox Jews, 2017). Despite the rising communal awareness of this struggle, as indicated by increased newspaper entrees and academic Judaic articles, insufficient scientific research has emerged that focuses on how JMO students are taught about prayer in school, the effectiveness of current teaching methodologies, or how JMO students, adolescents, or adults relate to prayer. This study surveyed 32 ninth-grade JMO male students and four ninth-grade Judaic teachers from one JMO boys' high school in the metropolitan New York area to evaluate (1) how prayer was taught (2) how students related to prayer and (3) what curricular suggestions could be offered to the school based on teacher feedback and current research in curriculum design. All four teachers indicated that prayer was not taught formally and varying attention was provided to teaching prayer informally. Every student reported that they prayed at least once on non-school days with 84% indicating they prayed three times on those days. Despite praying regularly, 41% of students indicated they could translate and extract meaning from only 0-25% of the prayer text. Fifty percent of students indicated that they either sometimes of never feel a close connection with God even twice in a week while they pray. Overall, students regularly prayed inside and outside of school but with limited understanding of the prayer text, there was limited prayer education offered in the school, and 90% of students indicated interest in

TEACHING PRAYER IN JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOLS FOR BOYS

improving the quality of their prayers. Research-driven curricular recommendations are presented that are consistent with teacher suggestions and student needs.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

As my GSAPP experience comes to a close and I inch closer to achieving my long-awaited Psy.D., I feel a tremendous amount of *hakaras ha'tov*, recognition of the good afforded to me, for the many people that made this journey possible. First, this dissertation could not have come into fruition without the direction, support, and knowledge of my dissertation chair, Dr. Ken Schneider. From the moment I began discussing dissertation topics with Ken, he shared his ideas, advice, and support. Thank you for walking me through the dissertation process and providing helpful tips and support throughout. To Dr. Jeff Segal, thank you for being on my dissertation committee, talking through ideas, and always offering a smile, a good conversation, some jokes, and support. Jeff and Ken, you've both shaped the way I view myself as a clinician and have challenged me, each in your own way, to critically evaluate my skills, the vast field of psychology, and how I could best integrate the two.

To my parents and in-laws, what can I say... I'm a lucky man. My parents, Dr. Martin Leibowitz and Rhonda Leibowitz have always served as role models for me and I have gained tremendously from their words and even more from their actions. You have both been extremely supportive and encouraging throughout my time at GSAPP and I am incredibly appreciative. Abba, thank you for always being a sounding board to hear my ideas, thoughts, and plans, and for your willingness to always provide your guidance and insights. For the past four years and beyond, my in-laws (parents by law and choice), Mark and Bracha Bluman, have been a tremendous source of encouragement and were always willing to travel all the way out to Highland Park to watch the kiddos, allowing me to work. Thank you for your unwavering love and support.

TEACHING PRAYER IN JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOLS FOR BOYS

To my children, Ayelet, Akiva, Gavriel, and those still to come, thank you for the smiles, laughs, and inspiration to push myself to my potential. You are what keeps me smiling and happy even in times of stress. To my best friend and wife, Shifra you encouraged me to apply to graduate school when I was unsure if I would even be accepted and you believed in me every step of the way – thanks pal! Thank you ALL for your support, help, love, and encouragement... we did it!

Last to be mentioned but first in thought, no words could describe my gratitude toward God at this time. He has blessed me with a wonderful family, caring friends, sources of support, and a guiding hand in every endeavor I pursue. My prayers did not go unanswered and it is my hope that this study will allow others to share in that experience as well. So, may it be His will.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER	
1 INTRODUCTION	1
Purpose of Study	3
2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	4
I. Prevalence of Prayer	4
II. Significance of Prayer: Orthodox Judaic Perspective	4
III. The Modern Orthodox Jew	6
IV. Adolescence: A Critical Developmental Age and Stage	7
V. Principles of Curriculum Development	12
3 METHODS	22
Setting	22
Measures	23
Procedures	26
Statistical Analysis	27
4 RESULTS	29
Student Surveys	29
Teacher Interviews	42
5 DISCUSSION	48
I Student Background	48

TEACHING PRAYER IN JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOLS FOR BOYS

	II.	Prayer Quality	50
	III.	Prayer Education	54
	IV.	Recommendations for Implementing a Time Balanced	
		Prayer Curriculum	58
	V.	Limitations	62
	VI.	Suggestions for Future Research	63
REFERENCE	S		66
APPENDICES	S		71
	A.	Teacher Interview	71
	В.	Student Survey	73

LIST OF TABLES

	PAGE
Table 1.A Descriptive Statistics: Student Background	30
Table 1.B Descriptive Statistics: Student Background Percentages	31
Table 2.A Descriptive Statistics: Prayer Quality	. 33
Table 2.B Descriptive Statistics: Prayer Quality Percentages	4-35
Table 2.C Descriptive Statistics: Question 27 Word Bank	. 37
Table 3.A Descriptive Statistics: Prayer Education	. 39
Table 3.B Descriptive Statistics: Prayer Education Percentages)-41
Table 4 Descriptive Statistics: Teacher Interview Themes	. 43

Chapter I

INTRODUCTION

Peer-reviewed literature dedicated to effective pedagogical methodologies for teaching religion in general, no less teaching prayer in particular, is sparse. In the United States, where religious involvement is fairly high, far more people engage in personal prayer than in other religious activities such as bible study or attending formal religious services. Researchers have dealt with prayer in limited ways (Wuthnow, 2008). Religion and religious practices including prayer, are typically taught with tradition-based methodologies that are unaccompanied by empirical support, or taught by unscientific heuristics of "what works."

Religious institutions and groups, however, often struggle to teach prayer effectively. In an article titled *Religious Education Between Aspirations and Reality*, a Christian priest and educator described the historical evolution of how prayer was and is taught to Christians and the modern perils that emerge from teaching religion as a subject like any other without didactic indoctrinations that have proven effective (Ene, 2015). Similarly, in a 2007 study cited in Ziden & Rahman (2013) Nik Rosila Yaacob discovered that students are becoming less interested in Islamic education, with 40-48% of students having zero to limited interest. The authors surmised that this lack of interest was likely due to ineffective teaching methodologies in Islamic schools (as cited in Ziden & Rahman, 2013).

Judaism, too, has limited scientific studies for teaching prayer education to children. As there is no data that indicates if, when, or how prayer is taught in orthodox Jewish schools, standardization of pedagogical approaches among orthodox schools, or even among teachers within any one particular orthodox school is an unexplored area. Quantified comparisons of

various pedagogical approaches are nonexistent and there is no available data on which elementary, middle, or high school grades teach prayer or the content area covered. As a result, the effectiveness of current teaching practices, as they relate to prayer, are unknown. Referencing the observed challenge of teaching Jewish orthodox students to meaningfully engage in prayer, an article of Judaic academia articulated that "we simply do not have enough empirical information about what spiritual development means in modern-orthodox adolescents either in qualitative or quantitative terms" and suggested that the very goals of educators for teaching prayer are often opaque (Goldmintz, 2009). In the past ten years, countless Jewish journals, newspapers, and magazine articles have been published regarding the need for strengthening the methodologies of how prayer is taught in orthodox Jewish schools, and rabbis and lecturers have increasingly created platforms to address this need within the Jewish orthodox educational system. Articles that have emerged are titled "Can School Do a Better Job of Teaching Tefillah [Prayer]?" (Lipman, 2013), "Teaching for Prayer" (Yeres, 2018), "Engaging the Teenage Soul: Introducing the NCSY Siddur" (Brenner, 2013), and "The Power of Jewish Prayer" (Sacks, 2009).

Across religions, there appears to be a need for scientifically supported methodologies for teaching prayer as noted above regarding Christianity, Islam, and Judaism. For modern-orthodox Jews, an empirical evaluation of current teaching methodologies provides a basis for understanding the strengths and shortcomings of current prayer education and provides data necessary to present recommendations for hybrid teaching methodologies. To address the considerable non-scientifically observed and noted deficiencies in the quality of Jewish modern-orthodox adolescents' prayer, as noted above, this study investigated what pedagogical

TEACHING PRAYER IN JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOLS FOR BOYS

methodologies teachers utilize to teach prayer, how students relate to prayer, and what curricular recommendations could be offered based on research and teacher feedback.

Purpose of the Study.

The focus of this dissertation was to conduct a needs-assessment in a Jewish modern-orthodox boys' high school to assist in developing prayer curricula. The principal of a leading Jewish modern-orthodox boys' high school in the New York metropolitan region expressed interest in examining how teachers currently approach teaching prayer and what methodologies could be recommended to improve the efficacy of teaching prayer. The following are evaluation questions that the investigator addressed:

- 1. How is prayer currently taught to ninth-grade students in Jewish modern-orthodox high schools?
- 2. How do male ninth-grade Jewish modern-orthodox high school students relate to prayer?
- 3. Based on student needs and current research in curriculum design, how may teachers most effectively teach prayer?

This study included a topographic analysis of how prayer was taught to Jewish modernorthodox male adolescents in a private high school setting in the New York metropolitan area and how students identified their understanding and ability to extract meaning from prayer. Additionally, this study provided recommendations for teaching prayer based on teacher feedback and current research relating to principles of curriculum design.

Chapter II

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

I. Prevalence of Prayer.

With close to 76% of American's identifying with a religious group (Keeter, McGeeney, & Mercer, 2015) and many more praying at times of despair and crisis (Barnes, Powell-Griner, McFann, & Nahin, 2004), perhaps it is not surprising that research indicates that 90% of Americans pray at least occasionally (McCullough & Larson, 1999). Prayer may be defined as "every kind of inward communion or conversation with the power recognized as divine" (James, 1963). Ostensibly, prayer often includes a meditative process shared with a higher being that involves focus of thoughts and sustained concentration. The practice of praying can have many forms depending on an individual's religion and culture. "Broadly, it can be experienced inwardly emphasizing self-examination, outwardly focusing on human-to-human connections, and upward centering on human-to-divine relationship" (Ladd & Spilka, 2002).

II. Significance of Prayer: Orthodox Judaic Perspective.

In orthodox Judaism, prayer is a central pillar of faith, as rabbinic text states "the world stands on three pillars: (study of) Torah, (prayer) service, and kind actions (Ethics of Our Fathers - Pirkei Avos, p. 1:2)." Three times every day orthodox Jews are mandated to gather in a *shul* (synagogue) to pray (Berakhot, p. 4:1) in a quorum of at least ten males who reached the age of thirteen (Karo, 1563, p. 90:9; Talmud Berakhot, p. 8a). While prayers are typically communal and said in Hebrew to ensure that there is unity among the congregants with regard to reciting

the same text in the same language and at the same pace, the prayer service contains ample room for adding personal prayers providing the practitioner with an individualized praying experience. In fact, the Hebrew word for praying is "li-heet-pallel," (להתפלל), which translates to self-inspect, or to be introspective, an act that is individualistic in nature (Pădure, 2013). Beginning at age thirteen, all orthodox Jewish males are mandated by rabbinic law to pray three times daily (Karo, 1563, p. 89:1) and there is no shortage of extrinsic forces driving them toward this practice including religious law, parental pressure, teacher pressure, and school requirements. However, as prayer is a "worship of the heart" (Talmud *Taanis*, p. 2a), a supplicant's religious obligations appear to go beyond mechanical participation and include concentration and a search for personal meaning. In describing the necessity of an emotional experience that one should encounter in prayer, Rabbi Joseph B. Soloveitchik, affectionately referred to as "The Rav" in the Jewish modern-orthodox community, writes that "It is impossible to imagine prayer without, at the same time, feeling the nearness and greatness of the Creator... We cling to Him as a living God, not as an idea, as abstract Being. We are in His company and are certain of His sympathy. There is, in prayer, an experience of emotions which can only be produced by direct contact with God." In the introduction to Worship of the Heart, a book based on Rabbi Soloveitchik's lectures on prayer, Rabbi Shalom Carmy describes the Ray's analysis of the Jewish prayer text stating that "it is important to learn from these texts too, for the prayer book is not only the statutory articulation of our relationship to God but our training in that relationship as well." He further presents Rabbi Soloveitchik's postulation that "studying the laws governing prayer and understanding the ideas expressed in prayer and the structure of the liturgy are essential in order to relate properly to the act of prayer" (Soloveitchik, 2003).

This philosophy toward Jewish prayer appears to highlight the importance of an engaged prayer experience that incorporates mindfulness, self-awareness, and introspection as a means to form and build upon an individual's relationship with God. However, to achieve this, one must gain familiarity with the laws, structure, and meaning of the words of prayer.

III. The Modern-Orthodox Jew.

Modern-orthodoxy is a branch of orthodox Judaism that adheres to religious and spiritual requirements while also engaging in the modern secular world (Lamm, 1990). Like all sects of orthodox Judaism, modern-orthodox Jews believe in the divinity of the Torah laws and the accompanying oral law of interpretations passed down through the generations from Moses at Sinai. Modern-orthodoxy is a social label employed to categorize a population of orthodox Jews who value and immerse themselves in both the Judaic religious and secular worlds. Modern-orthodoxy is a broad social label that contains a wide spectrum of religiously adherent Jews and the 'homogenous' student sample is naturally representative of this spectrum.

A 2013 Pew Research survey indicates that there are 6.7 million Jews residing in America, with "Jews" defined by having at least one Jewish parent or being raised in a Jewish home¹. Of the 6.7 million Jews, 10% identify as orthodox, and 3% identify more specifically as modern-orthodox (Pew Research Center, 2013), yielding an American Jewish modern-orthodox population of approximately 201,000 people. In a nationwide survey of Jewish-school enrollment across the United States, Schick (2009) found that approximately 29,400 students

6

¹ According to *halakha* (orthodox Jewish law) one is Jewish only if his or her mother is Jewish or if he or she undergoes a conversion under orthodox Jewish auspices. Such a definition would reduce this number.

were currently enrolled in Modern-orthodox schools, with approximately 6,510 of those students enrolled on the high school level (Schick, 2009).

In a 2017 study by Nishma Research, 3,903 individuals between the ages of 18-54 living in the United States and self-identifying as modern-orthodox Jews were evaluated via websurveys regarding their perspectives on a wide range of religious-based issues. The results of this study indicated that 84% of modern-orthodox Jewish males between the ages of 18-54 attended Sabbath morning prayer services, 33% attended weekday morning prayer services, and 21% attended weekday afternoon and night prayer services. Of the combined modern-orthodox men and women who attended Sabbath morning prayers, 82% agree fully or somewhat that prayer was a meaningful experience (Nishma, 2017). These results indicate that while the majority of modern-orthodox males attended prayer services every Sabbath (and the majority of those find services to be at least somewhat meaningful), 16% of male modern-orthodox adults were not attending Sabbath services regularly, and the vast majority, 67% of modern-orthodox Jews were not attending weekday prayer services even once a day².

IV. Adolescence: A Critical Developmental Age and Stage.

Piaget, considered by some writers as the grandfather of research on children's intellectual functioning (Broderick & Blewitt, 2015), developed a four-stage model spanning from birth to adolescence that outlined how humans progress through the development of cognitive maturity. Despite being the single theory that has had the greatest impact on developmental psychology, Piaget's Cognitive Stages of Development theory has been

² While this study indicates the percentages of modern-orthodox Jews who attend prayer services in a synagogue, it does not report percentages of modern-orthodox Jews who pray regularly in venues outside the synagogue.

questioned by many researchers (Lourenco & Machado, 1996). Some researchers suggest that his projected age norms are disconfirmed by more recent data, and that children typically develop faster than Piaget initially theorized (Lourenco & Machado, 1996; Flanagan, 1984). Piaget's research concerning developmental stages, however, reflects the prevailing social science attitude of his time and decades afterward as indicated by the countless theorists who based their research on Piaget's work (Elkind, 1996). Piaget's cognitive development stages are as follows;

- Stage 1: Sensorimotor Stage (Birth 2 years) An infant knows and understands the world through movement and sensation. Behavior is reflexive and automatically triggered by stimuli. They learn the beginning stages of language and communication, as well as how to walk. By the end of this stage an infant will learn that items exist even when they cannot be seen.
- Stage 2: Preoperational Stage (2 6 years) Children in this stage learn to think
 symbolically, an important factor in reading, language, and pretend play. Thought is
 typically focused on one salient bit of information at a time, and as a result, thought is
 generally not yet logical.
- Stage 3: Concrete Operational Stage (7 11 years) Children are able to consider
 multiple bits of information at a time and can consider logical relationships between and
 among these pieces of information. Their logic is best displayed with information that can
 be demonstrated in the concrete world.
- Stage 4: Formal Operational Stage (12- adulthood) Children's logic extends to abstract thought allowing for moral and philosophical reasoning (Piaget, 1968, as cited in Broderick & Blewitt, 2015).

Piaget's fourth stage, the formal operational stage, suggests the development of a child's capability to think abstractly as it relates to spiritual development. With the onset of formal operational thought, adolescents are able to consider possibilities of the unknown future and plan accordingly, grapple with and make decisions based upon moral considerations, imagine themselves in alternate realities such as different roles, contemplate solutions to intangible largescale problems such as world hunger, and meaningfully consider spiritual concepts (Good & Willoughby, 2008). They can move beyond concrete childhood impressions of religion to reflections on issues and concepts that are embedded in existential and transcendental realms. For example, "adolescents face multiple questions that confront them about existence, such as, Who am I? What is my purpose in life? And Is there a God? These kinds of questions serve as catalysts for adolescent pursuits for deeper meaning of themselves and the world around them" (Markstrom, 1999). This stage appears to be a pivotal period in a child's religious development as it completely shifts the way a child thinks about and relates to religion. Critics of Piaget's theory postulate that Piaget's developmental stages are oversimplified and underestimate children's competency (Lourenco & Machado, 1996).

In 1982, David Elkind, a firm believer that Piagetian developmental psychology should be one of the basic sciences that serve professional practice, introduced his multi-stage theory of religious and spiritual identity based on Piaget's stages of cognitive development (Elkind, 1982). Elkind's multi-stage theory was based on an aggregation of data from 700 comprehensive interviews of Jewish (Elkind, 1961), Catholic (Elkind, 1962), and Protestant (Elkind, 1963) children and preadolescents in the United States. Elkind's theory postulates that children's beliefs, practices, and methods for differentiating between religious groups, undergo gradual changes that can be categorized into developmental stages. Elkind found that, consistent with

Piaget's Cognitive Stages of Development, children experienced four broad stages of religious and spiritual development. Despite researchers questioning Piaget's key claims of developmental age differences, the foundational assumption beneath Elkind's theory, as well as researchers questioning Elkind's theological assumptions of religious thinking being synonymous with the scientific and mathematical thinking of children that Piaget had studied (Francis, 2006 as cited in Gottlieb, 2006), concerning the area of religious educational discourse, Piagetian developmental stages became commonplace in both Europe and North America. Elkind's studies, based on the research of Piaget, are still widely regarded to have established the existence of cognitive stages in the development of religious thinking (Gottlieb, 2006). Piaget and Elkind's theories were selected because of their high frequency of citations in the literature and their historic significance. Elkind's stage theory of religious and spiritual development is as follows:

- Stage 1, Ages 5-7: At this stage, children engage in categorical thinking about groups but are unable to verbalize what differentiates groups. Children believe that a person could belong to only one group, such as "Jewish" or "Christian," but they cannot explain what differentiates a Jew from a Christian, or why a Jew cannot also be an American.
- Stage 2, Ages 7-9: At this stage, children develop a concrete understanding of group differences and can distinguish between religious groups based on customs, dress, and religious activities.
- Stage 3, Ages 10-12: At this stage, children can conceptualize "religion" and factors that distinguish religious groups based on variant beliefs and thoughts, rather than actions and dress. Children are also capable of understanding that people can belong to multiple categories such as a "Jewish American."

- Stage 4, Ages 13 and above: At this stage, children move beyond the rigid conceptual understanding of their religion's laws and beliefs, and can now access a deeper abstract outlook to further explore their religious convictions (Elkind, 1978).

Based on Piaget and Elkind's research, adolescence appears to be a critical time to help children safely and comprehensively explore their religious beliefs and convictions. Elkind (1999) cogently articulates the religious shift that adolescents experience;

Many parents and religious leaders were, and are, concerned that once they reach adolescence, many young people seem to turn away from the church or synagogue. This is true, but this turning away is not because young people are rejecting religion as a whole. Rather, it is because they now differentiate between institutional and person religion... young adolescents are intensely religious but that their religion is of a very personal, private kind. God is seen as a confidant, one whom you can confide in and still be assured that he or she will not broadcast your innermost thoughts and feelings. Young adolescents, then, do not shift from religion to no religion, but rather from institutional religion to personal religion. (Elkind, 1999)

Within this conceptual framework, high school teachers appear to have the potential to play a pivotal role in guiding students to explore avenues to make prayer a personal and meaningful experience that promotes and builds upon students' newly developed capacity to comprehend their religious belief in the abstract domain.

V. Principles of Curriculum Development.

Developing an educational curriculum for students to understand and relate to difficult subject matter is challenging. In addition to presenting content clearly in a conducive environment, teachers need to ensure that students are engaged, motivated, and receptive to the subject matter (Brock, Nishida, Chiong, Grimm, & Rimm-Kaufman, 2008). To teach effectively, teachers must carefully consider how to convey information in a classroom setting to ensure information is stimulating, relatable, and purposeful.

Concept-based teaching, based on concept-based curricula, focuses on the development of complex and critical thinking skills and has existed for more than 50 years (Baron, 2017). In an article focused on curriculum reformation for nursing students, Baron relates the need for those in the medical profession to shift from memorization-focused training to training focused on application of information. She noted that the curriculum approach of concept-based teaching, developed by Hilda Taba, was popular in the 1960s and early 1970s in the United States, but was replaced in the mid-1970s by an educational movement that promoted objective testing for absolute evaluation. Skills and segments of information became the focus of education, while creativity, complex-thinking, and problem-solving became secondary (Baron, 2017). Taba postulated that these forms of tests are designed to measure the mastery of factual knowledge but do not measure more complex and creative forms of mental activity and therefore "there is a need to broaden the base of the observation by employing evaluative procedures which go beyond the usual pencil and paper testing (Taba, 1962; Costa & Loveall, 2002)." Despite her critics, Taba's concept-based teaching has resurfaced and gained popularity in schools and across fields of specialized education (Baron, 2017; Parry, 2000) and there is a push for her curriculum

theory to be more widely used in 21st century educational systems (Laanemets & Kalamees-Ruubel, 2013). Taba is recognized as a significant influence in educational thought throughout the world and her legacy continues to live on (Costa & Loveall, 2002).

Though there are cutting-edge advances in how teachers can convey information in a classroom setting, many of the principles of modern curriculum development are based on the conceptual framework developed by Taba (Hunkins & Hammill, 1994; Laanemets & Kalamees-Ruubel, 2013; Riafadilah & Mukhidin, 2017; Trezise, 1972). Renowned for reconceptualizing curriculum development to incorporate cognitive development as a primary focus, Taba advanced the notion of teaching students *how* to think, by helping them codify information into conceptual patterns, recognize and verbalize relationships between fragments of data, make inferences and informed generalizations on the basis of data, and by becoming sensitive to analogous relationships such as cause-and-effect and similarities and differences (Trezise, 1972). For Taba, teaching was not limited to a mere transfer of facts, but was, rather, the means of developing students' thinking skills, which she understood to be active and reciprocal between the child and subject matter (Laanemets & Kalamees-Ruubel, 2013). In describing the profound significance of teaching student to approach information analytically, she cogently wrote the following:

One scarcely needs to emphasize the importance of critical thinking as a desirable ingredient in human beings in a democratic society. No matter what views people hold of the chief function of education, they at least agree that people need to learn to think. In a society in which changes come fast, individuals cannot depend on routinized behavior or tradition in making decisions, whether on practical

every day or professional matters, moral values, or political issues. In such a society, there is a natural concern that individuals be capable of intelligent and independent thought. (Taba, 1962)

Taba's work is viewed as foundational for building curricula as it focuses on practical goal-oriented strategies to employ rather than vague theoretical generalities that are often difficult to translate into a classroom setting (Baron, 2017; Parry, 2000). Taba developed a seven-step formula for designing curricula as well as a teaching methodology that included novel strategies aimed at accomplishing four fundamental goals. The seven-step formula of curriculum design is portrayed below, followed by the strategies employed to accomplish her four fundamental teaching goals;

Curriculum Design.

- **Step 1. Diagnosis of needs:** The teacher (or curriculum designer) begins the process by identifying the students' needs for whom the curriculum is to be planned.
- **Step 2. Formulation of objectives:** The teacher (or curriculum designer) selects those specific objectives that require attention consistent with the identified needs. These objectives allow a precision to the process and enable curriculum makers to view learning as an observable outcome that could be measured.
- **Step 3. Selection of content:** From the objectives selected, one can determine the subject matter of the curriculum that best meets the needs of the delineated objectives.
- **Step 4. Organization of content:** After selecting the content to include, this step requires teachers or curriculum designers to organize how the content should be presented to

attain expected results.

Step 5. Selection of learning experiences: Based on the selection of content material, educational learning experiences should be planned in advance.

Step 6. Organization of learning experiences: Once the learning experiences are selected, they are placed into a sequence to optimize student learning.

Step 7. Evaluation and means of evaluation: Prior to implementing the curriculum, the curricular planner must determine how students can demonstrate that they have achieved mastery of the stated objectives (Taba, 1962; Hunkins & Hammill, 1994; Laanemets & Kalamees-Ruubel, 2013).

The Four Goals of Teaching.

Of the four fundamental goals in teaching, three of Taba's goals are cognitive and one is affective. The four goals are as follows;

- (1) **Concept development**: Teachers elicit data from the students with general questions such as "what happened in the story you read?" This first step warms up class discussion, gets students involved, and allows for clarification of facts.
- (2) **Interpretation of data**: Teacher elicits inferences, meaning, and purpose of data through questions that focus on the "why" of data and underlying rationales of data. Perspective taking is also a common method of allowing students to better grasp information from a realistic viewpoint.

- (3) **Application of generalizations**: Teachers elicit student generalizations about significance of data and what impact it may have on oneself and others.
- (4) **Interpretation of feelings, attitudes, and values**: Teachers elicit responses that allow students to relate data to their own lives by asking questions such as "Has anything like this ever happened to you?" or "How did you feel when you read xyz?" (Trezise, 1972).

Beyond the strategies that involve utilizing thought-provoking questions as detailed above, Taba also developed some general guidelines to help teachers keep their classes engaged and productive. Some of these guidelines include introducing information through open, yet focused student discussions where all opinions are heard and considered. Teachers were not to present closed-questions or present verbal or facial judgment on any student response. Rather, student ideas and thoughts were presented to the class for consideration and reaction. Students are constantly challenged to clarify and expand their thoughts and opinions and relate them to those of others. When applicable, expansive student discussions are followed by activities that challenge students to transform their conceptual understanding into practical application (Trezise, 1972).

The National Research Council's Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education presents key practices that current research supports for teachers to incorporate in their curriculums to achieve deeper learning, or the capacity to take learned material from one setting and apply it to a new situation as a means to gain expertise in a subject area. Some of these practices include;

- (1) Use of multiple and varied representations of concepts and tasks: Use of diagrams, animations, and concrete objects to represent abstract concepts in teaching how a system or model works can help increase student performance on tests that involve transfer of knowledge or problem-solving.
- (2) Encouraging elaboration, questioning, and self-explanation: In accordance with research from Hilda Taba, this technique requires students to actively engage material to attain the ability to process content in their own words rather than memorizing information as presented in class. This can be accomplished by asking students to explain a text in their own words aloud, ask students questions about material they just read such as why, how, what if, and so what, having students discuss questions with each other, and have students summarize what they learned in writing.
- (3) **Feedback:** Research is clear that receiving feedback is critical to acquiring skills. Explanatory feedback is a form of feedback that focuses on explaining why a particular practice is incorrect or insufficient rather than simply flagging errors and is proven as the most effective form of feedback. Asking students to solve challenging problems while providing explanatory feedback along the way promotes deeper learning.
- (4) **Prime student motivation:** Students learn most deeply when they are interested in the subject-matter, they believe they are capable of achievement, and they attribute their performance to effort rather than to ability. This can be accomplished through observing peer-demonstration of success and positive encouragement. (National Research Council, 2013)

Two important aspects to consider regarding the teaching of prayer are alignment of teaching style to the student's strengths in modalities of learning, and of content-relevance to a child's developmental stage as seen in the research that follows. Fleming (2016), in a study focused on implementing an interactive system for teaching Islamic Prayer, presented four modalities of learning styles: visual, aural, read/write, and kinesthetic preferences. Farsi & Munro (2016) posited that students with visual modality strengths will best learn in the form of graphical or pictorial representations. Students with aural modality strengths will best learn in the format of listening and participating in discussions and lectures. Students with read/write modality strengths will best learn in the format of reading and writing texts and words. Lastly, students with kinesthetic modality strengths will best learn in the format of active participation in lesson plans. Although the program effectiveness was not measured, the authors of this study developed a virtual interactive system for teaching Islamic prayers called the interactive Islamic Prayer system that was designed to address all four modalities of learning (Farsi & Munro, 2016).

Similarly, Azidah Ziden and Muhammad Rahman (2013) developed and evaluated the effectiveness of a computer-based system for teaching Islamic education. This system included text, graphics, audio, and animation, the four abovementioned modalities of learning, in a method referred to as the 'experiential design method.' Their method, which utilizes multimedia and visual simulation was found to be more effective than a control group that was taught with a direct teaching mode and no use of PowerPoint or multimedia-based visual simulation applications (Ziden & Rahman, 2013). These studies present compelling technological-based strategies to increase student engagement in religious studies as a means to teach in a fashion that is aligned with student modality of learning.

In addition to developing a teaching format that addresses "how" to effectively teach religious studies, it is important to consider "when" to teach various aspects of prayer. One such layout of developmental age-appropriateness for teaching prayer is presented by Ene (2015), a Christian priest and educator who was concerned about Christian schools producing students who knew how to pray but lacked the ability to develop meaningful connections with a spiritual entity while engaged in prayer. Ene presented a basic design for what teachers should focus on while teaching religion and prayer. He posited that in primary school the educational focus should be basic liturgical reading skills where students learn how to pray, and character development where students show respect to their parents and others. In secondary school, the focus of teachers should be on Christian history, the New and Old Testament with emphasis on the latter, and a conceptual understanding that being a Christian means being in a love partnership with God that begins by forming such partnerships with peers. The author postulated that goals at the secondary-school stage are to acquire skills, behaviors, and meaningful innerstate connections with these actions. An example is lighting the Christ-as-Light candle as an inner-state expression of faith rather than as a habit. Ene posited that on the high school level, the Christian way of life should be addressed more thoroughly by focusing on case studies of saints and important clerics and thorough comparisons of Christianity to other religions and beliefs (Ene, 2015). This article does not present a study that promotes evidence of an effective curricular model, however it does suggest that other religions openly struggle with teaching prayer in an effective manner and have, as a response, considered aligning educational goals and strategies to children's age-appropriate developmental stages.

Recent articles of Judaic academia have produced tips and strategies for Jewish educators to use while teaching prayer. Goldmintz (2007) suggested teaching prayer during prayer sessions

rather than in a classroom, in short time increments (one or two minutes), with visual cues to stir emotional attachment, and with the teacher's humanizing the struggle of making prayer meaningful by sharing his or her own experiences in the endeavor. Noting the developmental stage of adolescents' abstract thinking and their healthy inclinations towards forging an independent sense of self and identity, another article (Goldberg, Pelcovitz, & Rosenberg, 2010) highlights the normality of adolescents testing limits in both the religious and secular realms. Here, the authors stressed the need for educators to serve as "non-judgmental role models, and not as overwhelmingly knowledgeable, perfect, and pious demi-angels." The authors further suggested creating a safe space for adolescent students to talk about God and belief, forging adult-student relationships that are open to questions and expression of religious struggle, teacher self-disclosure of religious struggle, and increased fluency of prayer to promote awareness. Much of these suggestions have scientific basis as noted above.

In a longitudinal study evaluating the effectiveness of a seventh-grade prayer curriculum in a Jewish orthodox school, several important findings were discovered despite noted substantial limitations³. Some of the aforementioned Judaic strategies were incorporated, and five years later, when students were in twelfth-grade, many students anecdotally reported that positive teacher role-modeling, positive teacher-student relationships, and effective appreciation of prayer through didactic and visual approaches continued to positively impact their prayer experiences. Though this study presented an appealing pedagogical methodology for teaching

³ The study was administered by a prayer educator, untrained in scientifically-sound methodologies of research, who administered the study to his own class. Additionally, there is concern for response-bias, confounding factors contributing to student gains in meaningful prayers (e.g., family dynamics, other prayer programs, communities), and a lack of a control group for comparison.

TEACHING PRAYER IN JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOLS FOR BOYS

prayer to seventh graders, it lacked supporting empirical evidence and did not directly reflect strengths and weaknesses in adolescent pedagogical methodologies as they relate to prayer.

Chapter III

METHODS

Setting

The needs assessment was conducted at a Jewish modern-orthodox high school for boys in the New York metropolitan area. According to the school's principal, the high school had an enrollment of approximately 300 male students with 86 students in the ninth grade at the time of the study. One-hundred percent of the school's ethnic makeup was Caucasian and more than 95% of students were raised in Jewish orthodox homes. To attend the school, students were required to submit an application and attend an interview. The principal indicated that the school examined prospective students' academic profiles and attitudes toward the schools' intensive dual curriculum to ensure there was mission-alignment and that students could achieve academic excellence in both Judaic and secular studies. Mission-alignment involves prospective parents and students sharing the school's goal of "providing students with a Jewish education through an unwavering commitment to serious Torah learning, the instilling of a strong and passionate love for *Eretz Yisrael* [Israel] and the rigorous study of modern science and the humanities." Every year, a significant number of seniors attended college classes for part of the day, and overall, more than 95% of this school's graduates went on to college.

Regarding organizational structure, the school provided a dual curriculum of Judaic studies in the morning and secular studies in the afternoon. School days began with mandatory morning prayers at 8:10 AM and ended at 6:00 PM. For Judaic studies, there were five classes of students tracked into three levels of difficulty. One Judaic teacher taught each class for the entire morning. Teachers were provided with general guidance regarding which book of Talmud should

be taught, and which chapters of Torah should be focused on, but Judaic teachers were empowered to incorporate their own teaching styles into their classrooms and were given the autonomy to decide the specific areas of focus within each field of study and the degree of thoroughness they desired. Judaic subjects typically taught in the morning included Talmud, Torah, Jewish law, Jewish philosophy, and Jewish ethics. Judaic teacher curricula were discussed with the principal and director of teaching and learning for approval.

The school principal identified student prayer as an area in need of improvement and expressed interest in the investigator conducting a needs assessment to propose curricular suggestions that could impact future programming. The principal was interested in exploring students' current quality of prayer, as well as teachers' current and perceived ideal methodologies of teaching prayer. The principal identified student prayer as an area in need of improvement and was open to curricular suggestions that could impact future programming.

Measures

Teacher Interviews.

Teacher interviews were designed to evaluate prayer education as the teachers perceived it to actually be and as they envisioned it should be in the school setting. As the study utilized Grounded Theory, there were no investigator hypotheses. The interview contained ten questions, with some questions containing multiple parts. Questions focused on teachers' teaching experience, process of curriculum development, and perspectives of the overall quality of student prayer-services in school. The interviews also addressed how teachers value devoting class time

to improving prayer and what teachers believe would be the most effective methods to improve the quality of student prayer (See Appendix A).

Student Surveys.

The investigator developed a student survey designed to evaluate students' relationships with prayer (see Appendix B). The SDRS-5 (Hays, 1989) was included in the survey to detect if students were providing answers that reflected social-desirability bias. Social desirability response style (SDRS) is a respondent's tendency to present him or herself favorably and can adversely affect the reliability of self-reported data. SDRS is problematic in assessment as it can inflate the reporting of desirable behaviors and deflate reporting of undesirable behaviors resulting in data misrepresentations referred to as social desirability bias (Vésteinsdóttir, Reips, Joinson, & Thorsdottir, 2017). It is therefore important to include an instrument in research studies that assesses individuals' personal behaviors when there are socially-mediated opinions and beliefs towards those behaviors.

Religious beliefs and practices are sensitive topics that carry concern for SDRS. While there is ample research exploring the effects of religious affiliation as a protective factor for adolescents conforming to negative peer influence (Grier & Gudiel, 2011), adolescent proclivity to conform to religious practice has sparse data. It is unclear whether adolescents raised in religious homes and communities find personal gratification and meaning in conjunction with their religious practices or perfunctorily participate in religious practices as a result of religious conformity but devoid of personal attachment. To study this topic, it was necessary to

incorporate an SDRS assessment to prevent gathering data that was tainted by social desirability bias.

Douglas P. Crowne and David Marlowe created a 33-item instrument in 1960 to measure the presence of social desirability bias. This measure has been widely used in various studies due to its simplicity and its ability, through subtle indicators of socially-desirable responding, to purify studies of the contaminating effects of psychopathology (Hays, 1989). However, adding a 33-item scale to a questionnaire or survey may be cumbersome for respondents, particularly adolescents, and can lead to respondent fatigue. Despite the potential value of assessing SDRS as part of self-report evaluations, assessment time is at a premium and therefore a short SDRS measure is a practical alternative to the original social desirability scale developed by Crowne and Marlowe (Hays, 1989; Vésteinsdóttir, Reips, Joinson, & Thorsdottir, 2017). One such alternative is a 5-item scale, the SDRS-5, which is based on Crowne and Marlowe's original 33-item scale and was designed to take one minute to administer. This scale produced an alpha reliability of 0.66 (0.68 in a second sample) and a test-retest reliability of 0.75 and reduces the respondent burden by lessening its length 85% (Hays, 1989). Incorporating the SDRS-5 in this research increased the qualitative reliability of the data collected.

The survey was comprised of three overarching categories: the student's background, prayer quality, and prayer education. Survey questions focused on how often students pray, their understanding of the prayer text, the meaning that they find in prayer, and their perspectives on their school's educational involvement in improving the overall quality of prayer. There were no short-answer prompts included. The survey consisted of 41 questions of which 40 were single-answer multiple-choice questions and one that involved choosing descriptive words most associated with their prayer experience from a word bank (See Appendix B). This survey was not

designed to have an overall summary score. Reliability and validity of the survey were not calculated. In a trial administration with three individuals taking the survey prior to entering the school, the survey took eight to eleven minutes to complete.

Procedures

For the teacher surveys, the investigator was invited to join a meeting with the school principal and ninth-grade Judaic teachers to discuss the comprehensive interview component of the study and to encourage participation. Teachers were told that each interview would be conducted by the investigator in person or by phone and should take no more than 25 minutes. Teachers were informed that participation was optional but encouraged. All five ninth-grade Judaic teachers agreed to participate. Two of the interviews were completed in person, two were completed by phone, and one teacher, due to his busy schedule, had difficulty arranging a time for the interview. It is noteworthy that the school principal was also one of the ninth-grade Judaic teachers and was included in the four teachers interviewed for this study. Teachers were provided with teacher permission-forms indicating their consent to participate in the study and be audio-recorded for the purposes of transcribing the interview afterwards. To ensure privacy, all interview recordings and transcriptions were secured in a locked file cabinet. Teachers were informed that all interview responses would be shared in aggregate form to protect teacher identity and privacy.

For the student surveys, all ninth-grade students were invited to participate in the study.

An email that included a digital consent form was sent by the school to all ninth-grade parents informing them of the study, notifying them that breakfast would be provided to all students who participate, and encouraging them to sign consent forms to permit their children to participate in

the study. Parents of 67 of the 86 students in ninth grade digitally signed parental permission to participate. Arrangements were made with the school principal to invite all students with parental permission to participate in the study during school hours.

Typically, the entire ninth grade prayed together in school every morning. The survey was scheduled to take place immediately after prayer services. On the morning of the study a significant traffic event delayed many school bus arrivals. As a result, small prayer-services commenced as each bus arrived and late-arriving students were unable to participate in the study. Thirty-two students with signed parental and student consent forms were handed student surveys. Students were instructed to not write their name on the survey. Throughout the survey, the Investigator walked around the room to monitor students and respond to questions. All students completed the survey within fifteen minutes. Upon each student's completion, the Investigator collected and reviewed the student's survey and consent form to ensure all items were answered.

Statistical Analysis

The mean, mode, range, standard deviation, and percentage were calculated for each question of the student surveys. Similarly, for teacher interviews, all recordings were transcribed and qualitatively assessed using Classical Content Analysis (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2008) to identify major themes within the responses. Simultaneously, the investigator's colleague, a doctoral candidate who was also trained in Classical Content Analysis, read all teacher responses and independently identified major themes that emerged in the data sets. The colleague chosen was not Jewish or familiar with fine details of the literature included above for the purpose of providing a different perspective of the same interview material. The Investigator and the

TEACHING PRAYER IN JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOLS FOR BOYS

doctoral candidate colleague then compared major themes, grouped them into categories and agreed upon a cohesive final code.

Chapter 4

RESULTS

The purpose of this study was to conduct a needs assessment for a potential prayer curriculum in a Jewish modern-orthodox high school. The needs assessment involved an evaluation of how students relate to prayer and how students and teachers perceive efforts to teach prayer.

Student Surveys

Thirty-two students completed student surveys (see Appendix B). The survey included a five-question Social Desirability Response Scale (SDRS-5) to evaluate social desirability bias and 41 items divided into three sections; student background, prayer quality, and prayer education. Each section is recorded below, item by item, in tables followed by explanations. Descriptive statistics include number of students in sample (n), mean, mode, minimum (Min), maximum (Max), standard deviation (SD), and percentages.

Regarding the SDRS-5, all 32 students completed the questionnaire. Each question had five responses, one of which was reflective of social-desirability bias. For every socially-desirable response recorded, respondents received one point. Lower scores are reflective of less social-desirability bias. Student answers ranged from 0 to 4 points, with one student receiving a 4, one student receiving a 3, one student receiving a 2, and a mode of 0. Overall, student responses were not influenced significantly by social desirability bias.

Additionally, to evaluate consistency of responses, there were a few instances where two questions asked for similar information. Results showed that student responses were

exceptionally consistent. For example, 53% of students responded that they are "often" or "almost always" focused for nearly all of morning services (question #15), and later 53% of students responded that their mind "sometimes" or "never" wanders during prayer (question #22). Although no reliability or internal consistency scales were included in this study, these responses in conjunction with other similar consistencies in student responses were indicative of minimal student response bias.

Table 1.A

Descriptive Statistics - Student Background

N = 32 for all questions

Choices for questions 1 to 8 are given at the bottom of Table 1

Question	Mean	Mode	Min	Max	SD
1) I have been going to an orthodox Jewish school since	1.06	1	1	2	0.25
2) On a typical school-day I pray	3.94	4	2	5	0.44
3) On a typical non-school-day I pray	3.77	4	1.5	5	0.66
4) On a typical school-day I pray with a minimum of ten people	3.84	4	3	4	0.37
5) On a typical non-school-day I pray with a minimum of ten people	3.33	4	1	4	0.95
6) On a typical non-school day, my parents encourage me to attend morning service	1.41	1	1	4	0.8
7) My father prays in synagogue three times a day	1.47	1	1	3	0.76
8) When I'm home for <i>Shabbat</i> , I pray alongside my father	1.78	1	1	4	0.91

Notes. Choices for questions 1 to 8 are:

Question 1: 1 = Kindergarten (or before), 2 = Elementary School (1-5th grade), 3 = Middle School (6-8th grade), 4 = High School.

Question 2-5: 1 = 0 Times, 2 = 1 Time, 3 = 2 Times, 4 = 3 Times, 5 = More than 3 Times.

Question 6-8: 1 = Almost Always, 2 = Often, 3 = Sometimes, 4 = Never.

Table 1.B

Descriptive Statistics - Student Background Percentages

	n			Percentage	S	
		Kinder- garten (or before)	Elementary School	Middle School	High School	
1) I have been going to an orthodox Jewish school since	32	94%	6%	0%	0%	
		0 Times	1 Time	2 Times	3 Times	>3 Times
2) On a typical school-day I pray	32	0%	3%	3%	91%	3%
3) On a typical non-school-day I pray	32	0%	6%	13%	78%	3%
4) On a typical school-day I pray with a minimum of ten people	32	0%	0%	16%	84%	0%
5) On a typical non-school-day I pray with a minimum of ten people	32	6%	13%	22%	59%	0%
		Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never	
6) On a typical non-school day, my parents encourage me to attend morning service	32	75%	13%	9%	3%	
7) My father prays in synagogue three times a day	32	69%	16%	16%	0%	
8) When I'm home for <i>Shabbat</i> , I pray alongside my father	32	50%	25%	22%	3%	

Notes. Response Choices are highlighted in gray and Mode is highlighted in blue. Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole number,

Regarding student backgrounds, Tables 1.A and 1.B indicate that of the students who completed this survey (n=32), 94% were enrolled in a Jewish orthodox school since kindergarten (Mean = 1.06, SD = 0.25), with only two students indicating that they began attending orthodox schools between 1st and 5th grade. On a typical school-day, 94% of students indicated they prayed at least three times daily, with 84% reporting they typically joined a quorum of ten males over the age of 12 for all three services (Mean = 3.84). On non-school-days, 81% of students reported praying at least three times daily (Mean = 3.77), with 59% reporting they joined a

quorum of ten males over the age of 12 for all three services (Mean = 3.33, SD = 0.95, Mode = 4).

Seventy-five percent of students who participated in the study reported that their parents typically encouraged them to attend morning services on non-school days (Mean = 1.41, SD = 0.80, Mode = 1.00) and 69% of students noted that their fathers attended synagogue three times daily. Though answers range from "never" to "almost always" regarding parent encouragement to pray, 0% of students indicated that their fathers never attended synagogue three times daily (Mean 1.47, SD = 0.76, Mode = 1.00). There was a range of student responses concerning praying alongside their fathers in synagogue when they were home for *Shabbat* with responses ranging from almost always to never. Fifty percent of students indicated that they sat with their father almost always on *Shabbat* (Mean = 1.78, SD = 0.91, Mode = 1.00).

Descriptive Statistics – Prayer Quality

Table 2.A

Choices for questions 9 to 26 are given at the bottom of Table 2.A

Question Questions 9 to 26 are given at the	n	Mean	Mode	Min	Max	SD
9) When I pray in shul <u>near home</u> , I have a specific seat/section that I sit in	32	1.56	1	1	4	0.88
10) When I pray <u>in school</u> , I have a specific seat/section that I sit in	32	1.5	1	1	4	0.92
11) On the morning of a non-school day, I <u>usually</u> arrive at synagogue;	32	2.75	3	1	5	0.81
12) On a typical Shabbat morning I usually arrive at synagogue;	30	2.7	2	1	4	1.03
13) If asked to translate the words of weekday morning prayer into English, I would be able to translate of the words with ease.	32	2.97	4	1	4	1.03
14) When I pray, I am careful to say every word.	32	2.16	2	1	4	0.92
15) When I pray morning prayers I am focused for nearly the entire service 16) For what percentage of prayers do you	32	2.34	3	1	4	1.00
typically think about the <u>meaning</u> of the words as you say them?	32	3	4	1	4	1.02
17) The words of prayer have deep <u>meaning</u> for me while I recite them	32	2.56	3	1	4	0.8
18) I sometimes express my personal thoughts and feelings to God while I pray	32	2.06	2	1	4	0.84
19) When there is something I really want or need I usually incorporate it during prayers 20) I feel the presence of (or a close	32	2.02	1	1	4	1.00
connection with) God while I pray at least 2 times <u>A WEEK</u>	32	2.34	3	1	4	1.10
21) There is a point nearly every day when I envision myself standing before God	31	2.74	3	1	4	1.03
22) My mind wanders during prayer	32	2.5	3	1	4	0.84
23) I feel that my prayers take on a different meaning each day	32	2.69	3	1	4	0.90
24) For how much of prayer are you thinking about and focused on God?	32	2.56	2	1	4	0.91
25) I would go to synagogue to pray even if I knew no family members or friends would be there	31	1.55	1	1	4	0.85
26) Overall, I usually find prayer to be a meaningful experience	32	2.22	2	1	4	0.87

Notes. Choices for Questions 9-26 are:

Questions 9-10, 14-15, 17-23, 25-26: 1 = Almost Always, 2 = Often, 3 = Sometimes, 4 = Never

Questions 11-12: 1 = At least 5 minutes early, 2 = On Time, 3 = 5-10 minutes late, 4 = More than 10 minutes late, 5 = I don't go

minutes late, 5 = I don't go

Questions 13 & 16: 1 = 75-100%, 2 = 50-75%, 3 = 25-50%, 4 = 0-25%

Question 24: 1 = Almost All, 2 = Most, 3 = Some, 4 = Barely any

Table 2.B

Descriptive Statistics - Prayer Quality Percentages

	n			Percentage	S	
		Almost Always	Often	Some- times	Never	
9) When I pray in shul <u>near home</u> , I have a specific seat/section that I sit in	32	63%	25%	6%	6%	
10) When I pray <u>in school</u> , I have a specific seat/section that I sit in	32	72%	13%	9%	6%	
14) When I pray, I am careful to say every word.	32	28%	34%	31%	6%	
15) When I pray shacharit (morning prayers) I am focused for nearly the entire service	32	25%	28%	34%	13%	
17) The words of prayer have deep <u>meaning</u> for me while I recite them	32	9%	34%	47%	9%	
18) I sometimes express my personal thoughts and feelings to God while I pray	32	28%	41%	28%	3%	
19) When there is something I really want or need I usually incorporate it during prayers	32	41%	25%	28%	6%	
20) I feel the presence of (or a close connection with) God while I pray at least 2 times <u>A WEEK</u>	32	31%	19%	34%	16%	
21) Whether before, during, or after I pray, there is a point nearly every day when <u>I</u> envision	31	16%	19%	39%	26%	
22) My mind wanders during prayer	32	13%	34%	44%	9%	
23) I feel that my prayers take on a different meaning each day	32	9%	31%	41%	19%	
25) I would go to synagogue to pray even if I knew no family members or friends would be there	31	65%	19%	13%	3%	
26) Overall, I usually find prayer to be a meaningful experience	32	22%	41%	31%	6%	
		At Least 5 Minutes Early	On Time	5-10 Minutes Late	>10 Minutes Late	I Dor Go
11) On the morning of a non-school day, I <u>usually</u> arrive at shul	32	3%	38%	44%	13%	3%
12) On a typical Shabbat morning I usually arrive at synagogue (shul)	32	13%	33%	23%	30%	0%

Table 2.B Continued

		75- 100%	50-75%	25-50%	0-25%
13) If asked to translate the words of weekday morning prayer into English, I would be able to translate of the words with ease.	32	9%	25%	25%	41%
16) For what percentage of prayers do you typically think about the meaning of the words as you say them?	32	9%	22%	28%	41%
		Almost All	Most	Some	Barely Any
24) For how much of prayer are you thinking about and focused on God?	32	9%	44%	28%	19%

Notes. Response Choices are highlighted in gray and Mode is highlighted in blue. Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole number,

Table 2.A and 2.B depict summaries of the data that emerged regarding students' prayer quality. According to student reports, 63% of students had a specific seat or section where they prayed at a synagogue near home (Mean = 1.56, SD = 0.88, Mode = 1) and 72% had a specific seat or section where they prayed at school (Mean = 1.50, SD = 0.92, Mode = 1). Regarding attending synagogue on non-school-days other than *Shabbat*, 44% of students arrived 5-10 minutes late and 38% were careful to arrive on time (Mean = 2.75, SD = 0.81, Mode = 3). Nine percent were arriving more than ten minutes late and 3% were not attending at all. On *Shabbat*, there was a wide range of synagogue arrival-times. Thirteen percent of students arrived at least five minutes early, 33% indicating that they arrive on time, and 53% indicated that they arrived at least 5 minutes late (Mean = 2.70, SD = 1.03, Mode = 2). It is noteworthy, that although most arrived late, every student reported attending synagogue on *Shabbat* morning.

Concerning students' ability to mechanically translate the words of prayer from Hebrew to English, responses ranged from being able to translate 0-25% of the words to 75-100% of the

words. Although the typical student understood approximately 25-50% of the words (Mean = 2.97, SD = 1.03), a significant 41% of students were able to translate only 0-25% of the words (Mode = 4). Similarly, survey results indicated variance in internalizing the meaning of the Hebrew words as they were recited. An average of student responses indicated that students thought (i.e. internalized) about 25-50% of the words they recited (Mean = 3.00, SD = 1.02), however 41% of students reported they think about the meaning of the words for only 0-25% (Mode = 4). Twenty-eight percent of students indicated that they almost always said every word of prayer while most students indicated that they said every word between sometimes and often (Mean = 2.16, Mode = 2.00, SD = 1.00). There was significant variance in student responses regarding maintaining focus throughout morning services ranging from almost always to never (Mean = 2.34, SD = 1.00) with 34% (Mode = 3.00) of students indicating that they were "sometimes" able to maintain focus throughout morning prayers.

Different than the literal translation of the words, students ranged in finding personal meaning in the words they recited during prayer, with 47% of students indicating this occurred sometimes (Mean = 2.56, SD = 0.80, Mode = 3.00). Only 3% of students indicated that they did not at times express their personal thoughts and feelings to God during prayer. Twenty-eight percent indicated they did this almost always, 41% expressed their thoughts often, and another 28% did this sometimes (Mean = 2.06, SD = 0.84, Mode = 2.00). In contrast, when there was something that a student really wanted, 41% of students almost always incorporated their needs into prayer, while 53% of students did this either sometimes or often (Mean = 2.02, SD = 1.00, Mode = 1.00). Although there was significant variance in student responses, 34% of student indicated that they only sometimes felt a close connection with God while praying at least two times a week (Mean = 2.34, SD = 1.10, Mode = 3.00). Thirty-nine percent of students indicated

that they only sometimes envisioned themselves before God at one point each day and 26% indicated that this never occurs (Mean = 2.74, SD = 1.03, Mode = 3.00). These answers contrast with the 44% of students who reported thinking about and focusing on God during most of prayer (Mean = 2.56, SD = 0.91, Mode = 2.00). Sixty-five percent of students reported that they almost always attended synagogue even if they knew no friends or family would be there (Mean = 1.55, SD = 0.85, Mode = 1.00). Overall, regarding finding prayer to be a meaningful experience, there was a variance in responses with 6% indicating never, 31% indicating sometimes, 41% indicating often, and 22% indicating almost always (Mean = 2.22, SD = 0.87, Mode = 2.00).

Table 2.C

Descriptive Statistics - Question 27: Word Bank

Adjectives	Frequency
"Wake up calling"	1
Uplifting	11
Relaxing	1
Difficult	7
Thought provoking	15
Inspirational	10
Meaningful	17
Refreshing	3
Pointless	6
Confusing	6
Restricting	5
Mindless	5
Too long	15
Exhausting	6
Boring	6

Notes. This table includes the frequency of words being selected across student surveys.

Table 2.C includes a summary of the frequency of student responses for question 27, the last question in the prayer quality section. Respondents were asked to circle the words that best represented their experience with prayer. The word bank included seven positive and seven negative word-choices. The response "wake up" was an additional positive response created by a student. Overall, more positive words (n = 67) were chosen by students than negative words (n = 49), with "meaningful" and "thought-provoking" chosen as the most common positive words and "too long" chosen as the most common negative word.

Table 3.A

Descriptive Statistics – Prayer Education

Choices for questions 28 – 41 are given at the bottom of Table 3

Question	n	Mean	Mode	Min	Max	SD
28) My teachers <u>formally</u> teach prayer in <u>class</u> (e.g. set time devoted to the subject of prayer)	31	3.32	4	1	4	0.87
29) My teachers <u>informally</u> teach prayer in <u>class</u> (e.g. it comes up in class discussion naturally)	31	3.06	4	1	4	0.93
30) My teachers <u>formally</u> teach prayer in the <u>prayer room</u> (e.g. Someone speaks about the topic of prayer on a daily basis during or after prayers)	31	3.39	4	2	4	0.67
31) My teachers provide and encourage optional opportunities to learn about prayer (ex: learning groups [chaburot]/electives/clubs etc.)	30	3.03	3	1	4	0.96
32) The last time I can remember being formally taught prayer in school, I was roughly years old	32	2.69	3	1	4	1.00
33) I think about questions relating to God that are difficult to answer	32	2.53	3	1	4	0.88
34) Attendance is taken to see if I am at prayer in school	32	1.56	1	1	4	1.08
35) My school monitors me during prayer to ensure I am engaged	32	2.31	3	1	4	1.06
36) My teachers pray with me during prayers in school	32	1.19	1	1	4	0.64
37) I feel comfortable speaking with a teacher (Rebbe) about difficult questions relating to God	32	2.16	2	1	4	1.02
38) This school year, a teacher has challenged me to critically think about the quality of my prayer at least once	32	1.31	1	1	2	0.47
39) My teachers sometimes use aids to help teach prayer in class such as special prayer books designed for classroom instruction, prayer-themed pictures, and handouts to help us focus	32	1.94	2	1	2	0.25
40) The quality of my prayers has improved since I began high school	31	1.23	1	1	2	0.43
41) I am interested in improving the quality of my prayer	31	1.1	1	1	2	0.30

Notes. Choices for Questions 28 - 41 are Given Below;

28-31: 1 = Every Day, 2 = Once a Week, 3 = Once a Month, 4 = Never

32: 1 = 4-7 (Pre-K -2nd grade), 2 = 8-10 (3rd-5th grade), 3 = 11-13 (Middle School), 4 = 14 - current (High

School), 5 = I can't remember ever being taught prayer in school

33-36: 1 = Almost Always, 2 = Often, 3 = Sometimes, 4 = Never

37: 1 = Definitely True, 2 = Mostly true, 3 = Sometimes True, 4 = Not True at All

Table 3.B

Descriptive Statistics - Prayer Education Percentages

	n		Percentages				
		Every Day	Once a Week	Once a Month	Never		
28) My teachers <u>formally</u> teach prayer in <u>class</u> (e.g. set time devoted to the subject of prayer)	31	6%	6%	35%	52%		
29) My teachers <u>informally</u> teach prayer in <u>class</u> (e.g. it comes up in class discussion naturally)	31	3%	29%	26%	42%		
30) My teachers <u>formally</u> teach prayer in the <u>prayer room/Shul/Beit Medrash</u> (e.g. Someone speaks about the topic of prayer on a daily basis during or after prayers)	31	0%	10%	42%	48%		
31) My teachers provide and encourage optional opportunities to learn about prayer (ex: learning groups [chaburot]/electives/clubs etc.)	30	10%	13%	40%	37%		
		4-7	8-10	11-13	14 - Current		
32) The last time I can remember being formally taught prayer in school, I was roughly years old;	32	19%	13%	50%	19%		
		Almost Always	Often	Some- times	Never		
33) I think about questions relating to God that are difficult to answer	32	13%	34%	41%	13%		
34) Attendance is taken to see if I am at prayer in school	32	75%	6%	6%	13%		
35) My school monitors me during prayer to ensure I am engaged	32	28%	28%	28%	16%		
36) My teachers pray with me during prayers in school	32	91%	3%	3%	3%		
		Definitely True	Mostly True	Some- times	Never		
37) I feel comfortable speaking with a Rebbe (teacher) about difficult questions relating to God	32	31%	34%	22%	13%		
		True	False				
38) This school year, a teacher has challenged me to critically think about the quality of my prayer at least once	32	69%	31%				

Table 3.B Continued

39) My teachers sometimes use aids to help teach prayer in class such as special prayer books designed for classroom instruction, prayer-themed pictures, and handouts to help us focus	32	6%	94%
40) The quality of my prayers have improved since I began high school	31	77%	23%
41) I am interested in improving the quality of my prayer	31	90%	10%

Notes. Response Choices are highlighted in gray and Mode is highlighted in blue. Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole number,

Regarding prayer education, student responses indicated that 19% of students were not formally taught about prayer in school since they were 4-7 years of age, while 50% received a formal education most recently in middle school (Mean = 2.69, Mode = 3, SD = 1.00). Fifty-two percent of students noted that in their current class teachers never formally addressed prayer, while 35% indicated that prayer was formally addressed once a month (Mean = 3.32, SD = 0.87, Mode = 4.00). Similarly, 48% of students indicated that prayer was never formally taught in the prayer room (Mean = 3.39, SD = 0.67, Mode = 4.00). Forty-two percent of students indicated that prayer never emerged in class discussion, while 26% indicated that this happened once a week and 29% indicated this happened once a month (Mean = 3.06, SD = 0.93, Mode = 4.00). There was variance in responses regarding how often students felt that teachers were providing opportunities and encouraging students to learn more about prayer with 40% indicating this occurred once a month and 37% indicating that this did not happen at all (Mean = 3.03, SD = 0.96, Mode = 3.00).

Regarding thinking about difficult questions relating to God, students indicated a variance in responses with 13% noting that these types of questions did not arise, 41% noting they arose sometimes, 34% indicating they arose often, and 13% indicating they arose almost always (Mean = 2.53, Mode = 3, SD = 0.88). Though there was again significant variance of student responses, overall students reported feeling comfortable approaching their teachers with questions relating to God more often than they were experiencing those forms of questions (Mean = 2.06, Mode = 2.00, SD = 1.03).

Sixty-nine percent of students reported feeling challenged to think critically about prayer this year by a teacher, while 31% of students did not feel similarly (Mean = 1.31, Mode = 1.00). Despite this, 77% of students reported that their prayers had improved since they began high school (Mean = 1.23, Mode = 1.00, SD = 0.43), 90% of students, a significant 28 of the 31 students who answered this question, reported a desire to improve the quality of their prayers (Mean = 1.10, Mode = 1.00, SD = 0.30).

Teacher Interviews

Careful implementation of Classical Content Analysis of teacher interviews produced several overarching themes in connection to student prayer in school. The overarching themes and subthemes are presented in Table 4, together with the number of teachers (Range = 1-4) that referenced each theme or sub-theme.

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics - Teacher Interview Themes

Themes/Sub-Themes	Frequency
Curriculum Implementation	
Teachers feel empowered/Independent	4
Administration has limited power	2
Prayer not included in formal curriculum but informally discussed with varying frequency	4
"Whole Child Approach" for Spiritual/Judaic content	
Meeting student needs	3
Inspiring/guiding students to feel/improve their relationships with God	4
Emotional-scaffolding/develop self-awareness as precursor to connecting with God	1
Need to prepare students for spiritual independence	2
Teacher Thoughts of Student Opinion/Experience with Prayer	
Too Long	2
Lack understanding of words	2
Not meaningful or worthwhile	1
Variance of student connection to prayer	4
Current Methods of Teaching Prayer	
Providing feedback in class for their behavior during prayer	3
Occasionally focus on concepts within prayer at monthly learning club	1
Role-modeling	4
Effective Ways to Teach Prayer	3
Create conducive environment for prayer/Smaller prayer groups/Explanatory service	3
Involve parents to improve the culture at home of disengaged prayer	1
Invite selective older college or post-college students to join prayer groups to increased	1
role models	1
Teach self-awareness as precursor to awareness of God	1
Increase discussion of prayer in class, but not formal curriculum	1
Ineffective Ways to Teach Prayer	
Policing during prayer (rather than role-modeling)	2
Curriculum of explicit instruction - "knowledge doesn't lead to action in this context"	1
Challenges to Teaching Prayer	
Teacher belief that a curriculum for prayer would be ineffective	1
Time constraints in school	3
Environment not conducive: too hot and too many people	2
Difficult to teach child how to <u>feel</u>	1
Teachers will not do it, even if asked by administration	2
Teachers perceive teaching prayer to be juvenile for high school students	2

Notes. This table includes overarching themes and subthemes that emerged during Classical Content Analysis. The frequency of how many teachers mentioned each subject, ranging from 1-4 teachers, is included.

Regarding curriculum implementation, all teachers reported feeling empowered and/or independent in implementing their curricula. Teachers indicated that the school administration and the director of teaching and learning informed teachers which book of Talmud they should teach, and then were given the autonomy to choose the pace, scope, and breadth they could employ, and which outside subjects or ideas they wished to incorporate into their lesson plans. Concerning how often the topic of prayer was discussed informally in class, teachers' responses ranged from four times per week to once a month at most. Two of the teachers noted that if the administration were to propose that prayer be taught for a specific amount of time each week, some teachers would not comply.

All four teachers indicated that their responsibilities exceeded teaching Judaic content areas as a subject and involved guiding and/or inspiring students religiously to improve their relationship with God. All four teachers also mentioned that they incorporate "extra" subject matter into the classroom that was specifically chosen to meet student needs. When asked what specific "extra" subjects they incorporate, all four teachers indicated that there were no specific books or subjects, however two of them mentioned that they often incorporated ideas from *pirkei* avot, a book comprised of ethical lessons from early Torah sages, one teacher indicated that he often incorporated ideas that related to students' struggles and successes drawn from the weekly Torah portion (parsha), and another teacher indicated how he typically drew information from an array of books to aid in transforming Talmud study into applicable Jewish law.

When teachers were asked their perceptions of how students related to prayer with regard to the literal translations of Hebrew words, the meanings behind literal word definitions, the levels of value tied to the experience of praying, and the overall quality of student prayers, all four teachers indicated that there was a range among students. On the less meaningful end of the

scale, two teachers indicated that they often heard their students complaining that prayer services were too long, and two teachers reported that they have heard their students say that they did not understand what they are saying while they prayed. On the other side of the scale, one teacher stated that he admired how strong some of the students' prayers were, while another teacher indicated that there was a wide range of students with many who did not understand what they were saying and some who were exceedingly passionate about their prayers.

With regards to current methods of teaching prayer, all teachers reported that they did not have formal curricula in place, but tried, in varying degrees, to incorporate teaching prayer informally. All teachers reported that they prayed with their students and considered role-modeling to be a valuable method of teaching prayer. Three teachers indicated that they provided feedback at the start of class about the in-school prayers that took place earlier that morning.

When asked to describe the feedback provided, teachers indicated that feedback was generally a quick comment or a brief highlight of what specifically the teacher thought was "great" or "less than great" about prayers that morning, such as proper decorum, focused recitation of prayers, or timely attendance. Teachers indicated a range of frequency in providing this feedback from once every few weeks to approximately four times each week. Additionally, one teacher indicated that prayer was sometimes the focal topic of a monthly post-school learning night program (mishmar).

Concerning effective methodologies for improving prayer services, three teachers indicated that changing the current environment of school prayers could effectuate an improvement in student prayer. One teacher reported that the room was hot and stuffy, while other teachers indicated that it would be easier for students to focus if there were several smaller prayer groups, including some who provided explanation while praying to increase student

understanding. One teacher suggested increasing the number of role models in the room while praying by inviting older college or post-college students to pray with them. Another suggestion that emerged was increasing the frequency of mentioning prayer in class to highlight its importance. One teacher suggested that teachers could spend time teaching core values that might help students to further develop as people and also help them develop better relationships with God. For example, if students were taught to feel sincere gratitude toward their parents for what they provide, then they might more readily understand what it means to feel genuine gratitude towards God for what He provides.

As for ineffective methods for teaching prayer, two teachers shared that spending significant time during prayer asking students to remain quiet and engaged in prayer was ineffective and took away from their ability to properly role model what prayer should look like. One teacher posited that a prayer curriculum would be ineffective as "knowledge does not lead to action in this context."

Regarding challenges that may arise in incorporating a prayer curriculum, three teachers indicated that while a prayer curriculum would be helpful, there are significant time constraints regarding meeting student needs, and it would be difficult to introduce another topic to focus on. One teacher, as mentioned earlier, felt that a prayer curriculum would not be effective in teaching students how to relate to prayer and believed that teachers would not incorporate subjects if they did not wish to. As mentioned earlier, two teachers felt that the environment of the prayer room was not conducive for teaching students to pray meaningfully. Two teachers noted that teachers would likely perceive teaching prayer to be juvenile for high school students and not a good use of time, and two teachers indicated that teachers would not incorporate it into their classrooms even if asked to by the administration. Lastly, one teacher indicated that while

teaching students to intellectually understand a concept can often be taught with relative ease, teaching a student to *feel* an experience is difficult.

Chapter V

DISCUSSION

A needs assessment for a prayer curriculum was conducted at a Jewish modern- orthodox boys' high school in the metropolitan New York region. The school principal expressed interest in learning about student struggles with prayer and how teachers are currently addressing those needs. All 86 ninth-grade students and all five ninth-grade Judaic teachers were invited to participate in the study. Although the parents of 67 students signed consent for their children to participate, only 32 of those students were available to participate at the time the study was conducted. These students answered survey questions regarding their background, prayer quality, and prayer education history. Four ninth-grade teachers signed consent forms to participate in the study and engaged in interviews with the investigator that focused on their perceptions of student prayer, how they teach prayer, what would be the most effective methods for teaching prayer, and what challenges might be encountered in introducing prayer as an area of educational focus.

I. Student Background

Regarding the homogeneity of the student population evaluated, all students were male, enrolled in ninth-grade of the same dual-curriculum high school, and attended Jewish orthodox schools from a young age, 94% of which attended since kindergarten or earlier. As noted above, all ninth-grade students were invited to participate in the study and as a result the study sample included students from across academic tracks. Survey results indicated that most students (84%) were brought up in homes with a father that regularly (often or almost always) attended prayers

three times daily. As the question only asked about fathers who attended *three* times daily, it is possible to speculate that some of the remaining 16% of student responses would indicate that their fathers attend prayer services twice or at least once daily. While there were certainly differences among family dynamics and cultures, synagogue affiliations and their respective cultures, and other exterior influences that affect individual students, this study represented a homogenous sample of students that may be generalized to other students with similar familial, religious, and educational backgrounds.

Regarding the behavioral aspect of student prayers, most students prayed regularly. Nearly all students (94%) prayed three times daily on school-days, and more than four-out-offive students (81%) prayed three times daily on non-school-days, most of whom prayed with a quorum of ten men who reached the age of thirteen (84% in school, 59% outside of school). Additionally, 13% of students endorsed praying two times daily on non-school days which revealed that on non-school-days 84% of students prayed at least two times. Not a single student prayed "0 Times" daily. Although most student responses indicated that their parents encouraged them to pray on non-school-days, the range in responses might have been reflective, in part, of children's self-motivation to pray or a routine that did not require parental involvement rather than a lack of desire for parents to be involved. The percentage of parents who encouraged their children to attend prayer services each morning was comparable to the percentage of students' non-school-day prayer attendance leaving room for speculation that parental encouragement was effective for adolescent prayer attendance on non-school-days. Concerning punctuality to prayer services, 41% of students typically arrived either on time or early on non-school days while 44% typically arrived 5-10 minutes late. Although punctuality may be indicative of the value that students afforded to prayer, it is possible that other factors, such as transportation and personal or familial responsibilities, prevented some adolescents from regularly arriving to synagogue in a timely fashion.

Overall, 94% of students prayed at least two times daily inside and outside of school. On non-school days, most students attended services in a synagogue and arrived early, on-time, or a few minutes late. However, there was a considerable number of students who, on non-school-days, arrived at synagogue for morning services more than ten minutes late (13%) or did not attend at all (3%), and a significant number of students prayed with a quorum of ten males who reached the age of thirteen once or no times daily (19%) on non-school days.

II. Prayer Quality

Student surveys indicated a wide range of student prayer quality, as teachers anticipated during their teacher interviews. On the favorable end, 9% of students could mechanically translate at least 75% of the Hebrew text of prayer. However, 66% of students could translate fewer than half of the words including 41% who indicated they could translate fewer than 25% of the words. Results were similar for internalizing the meaning of the words while they prayed. Only 9% of students internalized 75% or more of the prayer text meaning, while the majority, 69%, internalized meaning for fewer than half the words. Although the majority of students could not translate and failed to internalize the majority of words, 62% of students were often or almost always careful to say every word when they prayed, 63% of students were often focused for nearly the entire morning service, and 53% said they thought about and focused on God during most or almost all of the prayer service. These results may indicate that students were taught to conceptually appreciate prayer as a time to encounter God and were trained to value

recitation of the prayer text, however students may not have been effectively trained to translate and internalize the words they recite.

As noted above, 62% of students were usually careful to say every word of prayer. However, it is unclear why the other 38% of students did not say every word. It may be a result of students' poor understanding of the prayer text, poor reading and comprehension skills, or due to time constraints caused by late arrival. Similarly, the finding that 37% of students were generally unfocused for morning services may reflect students' poor understanding of the prayer text, lack of interest in prayer text, or high level of distractibility. The survey did not probe reasons why students skipped words or were unfocused and such probes could be material for further research.

Additionally, it is perhaps not surprising that 60% of students indicated that their prayers only sometimes or never took on different meanings each day. It is unreasonable to expect individuals who do not understand the vast majority of the prayer text to extract new emotionally stirring connections to the prayer text each day. However, as noted above, some students did derive meaningful experiences from praying despite their unfamiliarity with the translation and lack of personal connections to the prayer text.

Regarding teacher perceptions of student prayer quality, all teachers indicated that there was a range in students' ability to translate and extract personal meaning from the prayer text, and teachers were overall nearly accurate in their assessment of student averages. On a scale from 1-10, with "1" indicating students could barely translate any of the words of prayer and "10" indicating that students could translate all of the words of prayer, teachers' responses ranged from 1-5 when in reality 41% of students indicated they could translate 0-25% of the words and the overall average of students' ability to translate words was slightly more than 25-

50%. Similarly, on the same scale of 1-10 with "1" indicating students could barely relate to the words of prayer beyond the literal definitions of the words, and "10" indicating that students could relate to all of the words of prayer beyond the literal definitions of the words, teachers' responses ranged from 1-5 when in reality 41% of students indicated they could relate to 0-25% of the words and the overall average of students' ability to relate to the words was 25-50%. This indicates that the average as reported by "mode" for both questions was in the 0-25% range, or a teacher response of "1-3," while the average as reported by "mean" was approximately 25-50%, or a teacher response of "3-5." These scores suggest that while a significant portion of students could translate and derive personal meaning from 0-25% of the words, there was a minority of students with better Hebrew skills and this significantly lifted the student average.

With regards to connecting to God during prayer, 69% of students "often" expressed their personal thoughts to God while praying and another 28% of students had this experience "sometimes." When students had something they really wanted or needed, only 66% of students, or 3% less than those who incorporated typical every-day personal thoughts, incorporated those needs into their prayers. The fact that 94% of students expressed personal needs and thoughts to God at least occasionally indicated an overwhelmingly strong conceptual student-understanding of a key function in prayer; developing and maintaining a relationship with God. However, there was concern for the considerable number of students that struggled to accomplish this regularly. In fact, 50% of students did not "often" feel the presence of God while praying minimally twice a week, and students envisioned themselves standing before God at some point each day even less frequently. It appeared that students were overall conceptually aware that prayer is an auspicious time for connecting to God and many students utilized prayer-time to foster this relationship. Many students, however, appeared to find difficulty in transforming the conceptual

understanding of prayer into the meaningful practice of prayer and therefore struggled to envision themselves standing in the presence of God and relating personal matters to Him.

Overall, students indicated that the meaning they attributed to prayer was higher than their understanding of the words of prayer. Sixty-three percent of students indicated that they "often" or "almost always" found prayer to be a meaningful experience and, when asked to ascribe adjectives to their experiences with prayer, more than half of the students chose "meaningful" as a fitting description. In fact, significantly more positive words were chosen than negative words, with the words "meaningful," "thought-provoking," "uplifting," and "inspiring" emerging most frequently on the positive end of the scale, and "too long" indicated most frequently on the negative end of the scale. Based on 41% of students who reported understanding 0-25% of the text of prayer, it appears that the meaning ascribed to prayer by most of the students was either derived from their general conceptual understanding of the transcendent experience of prayer and/or their ability to think about their relationship with God while praying.

Analysis of this data suggests that while most students often found prayer to be a meaningful experience overall, a significant minority of students did not, and students ranged in their abilities to translate and relate to the words of prayer with most students understanding 0-25% of the words. It appears that school-focus on improving student understanding of prayer text and aiding students in extracting meaning from prayer is warranted and could potentially benefit a significant portion of students.

III. Prayer Education

All ninth-grade teachers felt empowered to develop their own methods of teaching prayer within the broad contours delineated by the school administration, and all teachers incorporated their own self-selected Judaic sources and disciplines to meet student needs. Additionally, all teachers felt that their roles extend beyond teaching Talmud and also included inspiring and guiding students, assisting students in improving their relationships with God, and preparing students for independence in religious and spiritual matters. However, despite this backdrop and the fact that most teachers indicated that student prayer quality was less than what was realistically ideal for students' developmental age and maturity level, teachers did not formally incorporate prayer into their curricula. Teachers ranged in frequency of incorporating prayer education informally into their classrooms via teacher role-modeling, post-prayer feedback, and occasional class discussion as it related to other classroom subject-matter. Perhaps not surprisingly, 42% of students felt that prayer was *never* taught informally in class with another 26% indicating that informal prayer education occurred only occasionally in class discussion. These student responses may be attributed to lack of informal prayer education or to students not recognizing that teacher feedback falls under the category of "prayer education." Although prayer education was not an area of emphasis in the school, 77% of students indicated that their prayers improved since they began high school. This improved student prayer quality may be suggestive of effective teaching methodologies employed by teachers, a natural improvement commensurate with developmental growth and unrelated to school, or a result of presenting the question as "true" or "false" rather than presenting more options. Regardless, this question provided somewhat limiting information as it did not specify what aspects of prayer improved and it did not ask students to rate their prayer quality prior to high school in relation to the time

of the study, leaving room to speculate that gains in prayer quality were marginal if measurable at all. Overall, however, 90% of students indicated that they were interested in improving the quality of their prayers. Based on the data, it appears that (1) teachers extended themselves beyond their role as educators of a specified subject-matter and instead cared for their students' spiritual needs, (2) teachers correctly identified a general need for improvement in student prayer quality, (3) students expressed desire to improve the quality of their prayers, (4) and overall prayer was not sufficiently addressed, formally or informally, in the classroom setting.

Eighty-eight percent of students thought about difficult questions relating to God that they found difficult to answer at least occasionally, with 47% indicating that these thoughts occurred "often" or "almost always." However, students varied in their level of comfort approaching teachers to discuss these challenging questions with a significant 35% of students that indicated they either "sometimes" or "never" felt comfortable. As noted in chapter II, adolescents have a newly developed capacity to think about abstract concepts such as lifepurpose, beliefs, relationship with God, and ethical dilemmas. According to the research of Piaget and Elkind, it is developmentally appropriate for boys in ninth-grade to encounter perplexing thoughts about who they are as individuals, what is God, and how they understand their relationship with God. While there are many students that indicated that they would feel comfortable approaching teachers with these types of questions, the survey failed to ask how likely they would proactively approach teachers about their challenges, and there were a significant number of students who indicated that they did not feel comfortable or at least not a high-level of comfort in discussing these matters with teachers. It appears beneficial for the school to create a platform for welcoming questions of this nature that permits open dialogue together with guided teacher support.

In asking teachers what they believed would be effective methods for improving student prayer in school and what challenges might arise in implementing these methods, many suggestions abounded. Multiple teachers commented on the prayer room environment suggesting that it was too hot, over-crowded, and diverse in student ability-levels with regard to connecting to prayer. Teachers suggested smaller prayer groups with some that offer explanatory services. Additionally, teachers suggested increasing the number of role-models that pray with students, increasing discussion of prayer in the classroom to highlight its importance, and increasing student self-awareness as a precursor to awareness of God.

Regarding difficulties or challenges in teaching prayer, teachers provided answers that ranged from practical challenges in the classroom to systemic school challenges. Two teachers mentioned that role-modeling was difficult because much of their prayer time with students was devoted to maintaining decorum rather than setting an example of how to connect to God in prayer. One teacher noted that teaching students conceptually about prayer was not a challenge but teaching students how to *feel* prayer is difficult. Most teachers noted that time-constraint was the biggest barrier to focusing on prayer in class as there was limited time in their classes and significant areas or Judaic studies to address. Some teachers believed that focusing on prayer as a school-subject was juvenile for high school students, and it should have instead been focused on more heavily in elementary and middle school, with some teachers even indicating that there are teachers that would not teach prayer even if asked by the administration.

Overall, recognition is due to the school principal for having expressed interest in evaluating strengths and weaknesses in students' prayer quality and prayer education, and to all teachers who shared a common goal of teaching, inspiring, and nurturing their students' spiritual development. Despite the variance in teacher opinions regarding the most effective methods to

reach this goal, all teachers willingly participated in the study to best assist and support their students. This spoke volumes about the culture of the school. Students overall prayed regularly inside and outside of school, however there was significant room for improvement in the quality of their prayers. Some salient points that emerged regarding prayer education include; (1) Every student regularly prayed at least once on non-school days, with 81% of students praying three times, most of which were with a quorum of ten males who reached the age of 13. Although the ideal goal was to have 100% of students willingly praying three times daily at a synagogue with purpose and meaning, the overwhelming majority of students regularly engaged in the behavioral aspect of praying. (2) Students overall found prayer to be a meaningful experience and 90% of students expressed interest in improving the quality of their prayers. (3) Students' understanding and ability to extract meaning from the prayer text was substandard and in need of improvement. There was a need for students to exceed beyond the mechanics of behavioral involvement in prayer, and bring God into their prayers, or as a teacher phrased it, go beyond the conceptual understanding of prayer and help students "feel" prayer. (4) Consistent with their developmental age, many students indicated that they at least occasionally had significant questions relating to God that they struggled to answer and there was variance in responses regarding their level of comfort in approaching teachers to discuss these struggles. Questions relating to God should be embraced with a platform that allows for classroom discussion and guided resolutions, rather than allowing for these questions to remain unanswered or for students to potentially reach resolutions to their questions that may be incongruent with Jewish traditional values and philosophies. (5) As some teachers mentioned, much of the student-disconnect to prayer could be attributed to a lack of effective prayer education prior to high school, however whatever the

cause, it was clear that there were deficiencies and they were not being addressed enough in school.

Though not directly the focus of this study, there also appeared to be systemic concern with teachers not always following the guidelines set by administration which, aside from leading to an unhealthy school infrastructure, could seriously negate a school focus on improving student prayer or any other administrative mission. Teachers indicated an array of challenges in focusing on educating students in prayer, however the potential gains were too significant to let these barriers impede all efforts. A school focus on improving student prayer while remaining sensitive to teacher classroom time-constraints was warranted.

IV. Recommendations for Designing and Implementing a Time-Balanced Prayer Curriculum

Consistent with the curriculum development stages outlined by Hilda Taba, this study has addressed the first step in forming a curriculum by diagnosing the educational needs of ninth-grade students as they relate to prayer. Some possible objectives that may emerge are a need for students to improve their understanding and personal meaning attached to prayer text, a need to emotionally stir students to relate to God while praying, and a need to create a platform that allows students to explore difficult questions regarding self-identity, God, and the nature of the relationship between students and God. Together with teachers, the next steps in the curriculum development process would be selecting content material that addresses these objectives, organizing the content material into modules for presentation, determining if there is a particular learning experience that would convey this information beyond didactic lecture and class-discussion, determining the sequence of how each module should be presented, and determining

an evaluative process that allows students to demonstrate that they absorbed the outlined material. While these stages are traditionally employed to create a typical classroom curriculum, the Taba method does not necessarily need to be for a formal curriculum that occupies significant class time and may be utilized for a more informal "curriculum" of organized material to teach.

In line with teacher concerns for students gaining an understanding of prayer but also an emotional attachment to prayer, Taba's fundamental goals in teaching include cognitive and emotional gains. These goals are; (1) concept formation via open questions that elicit student thoughts and opinions, (2) challenging students to critically think about the purpose of material and the varying perspectives of material to allow students to gain a deep and realistic grasp of material, (3) application and generalization of material to make it personal and meaningful, and (4) interpretation of feelings attitudes, and values where students are charged to think beyond the conceptual constructs that arose in discussion and consider how they personally feel about the content to embrace personal connection to the material taught. Taba's methodology suggests that students learn from challenging each other, considering other perspectives on class material weighed against their own perspectives, and ultimately by teacher guidance in relating these newly found perspectives to their own emotions and beliefs. This requires classroom discussions that are teacher-led and guided but remain open for student debate and perspective-taking.

To relate this theory to the current study, teachers may decide to incorporate a guided prayer discussion in class once every other week for 30 minutes on a set day with a specific topic that teachers plan in advance. Based on questions that students choose in advance, the teacher might ask an open-ended question to warm-up student conversation and allow them to begin forming their own opinions, and then gently challenge student perspectives until they begin to

openly debate opposing opinions that emerge in discussion. At this point the teacher becomes a moderator to keep the conversation tame and fluid, while occasionally sprinkling questions to strengthen student opinions and consider opposing perspectives. The teacher then transforms this discussion into application to bridge theory and practice. Finally, and perhaps most importantly in addressing current student needs, teachers guide students in considering how they emotionally connect to the class conclusions and varying perspectives that emerged during class discussion.

In addition to the formal aspects of the newly adopted prayer curriculum addressing students' conceptual and emotional relationship to prayer and God, the National Research Council's Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education presents numerous educational strategies that may aid in achieving deeper learning. One such strategy is predicated on the data that suggests that students learn most deeply when they are interested in the subjectmatter, they believe they are capable of achievement, and, most importantly, they attribute their performance to effort rather than to ability. Therefore, priming student motivation in having meaningful prayer is essential and may be accomplished by observing others successfully experiencing meaningful prayer (role-modeling) and abundant positive encouragement. Accordingly, it is essential that teachers are able to be present during prayer time to pray rather than be held responsible to keep decorum. If possible, it may be productive to have additional staff members present at prayer services to monitor decorum while teachers engage in prayer, and/or invite selected college or post-college students to join prayer services, as one teacher suggested, to increase the number of role models present. Additionally, it is critical that teachers, or other staff present, continuously encourage students that they are capable of having a meaningful prayer service.

Most teachers indicated that they provide feedback of student prayer services at least occasionally. Another educational strategy proposed by the National Research Council (National Research Council, 2013) is providing explanatory feedback, a form of feedback that focuses on explaining why a particular practice is incorrect or insufficient rather than simply flagging errors. Explanatory feedback is proven as the most effective form of feedback and is critical in both aiding student acquisition of skills and promoting deeper learning. As many teachers already incorporate prayer feedback into their classroom teaching routines, incorporating this research-based form of feedback should not involve taking away additional class time and may be more effective.

While the investigator of this study generally agrees with the sentiment shared by some teachers that the overall substandard student ability to translate and find meaning in prayer text is an issue that should have been addressed in elementary and middle schools, the reality of the issue cannot be retroactively addressed. Certainly, elementary and middle schools should be attuned to this issue and address it within the confines of their schools, however with the current issue presenting in high school, it seems warranted for teachers to at least provide occasional and optional avenues for students to improve their skills in translating and understanding prayer texts. Although encouraging students to use a prayer book that includes Hebrew with ageappropriate English translation is an important first step, the National Research Council provides further research-driven strategies that could be utilized to promote deeper understanding of the prayer text. Teachers could create platforms for students to elaborate, question and self-explain the content that emerges in prayer text. This could be accomplished by creating optional groups where students meet occasionally with a teacher present and actively engage selected materials to process content in their own words rather than memorizing information as presented in the

prayer text. Students might be asked to explain a text in their own words aloud to the group, and students might be challenged on the material they just read with questions such as *why*, *how*, *what if*, and *so what*.

Lastly, consistent with Goldmintz (2007) and the feedback provided by some of the teachers during teacher interviews, if practically possible it would appear beneficial to improve the environment of prayer services in school. This could be accomplished by dividing the school-wide prayer service into several smaller prayer groups allowing for nuanced specifications for each group including varying speeds of prayer, incorporating explanatory components into prayer, and overall decreasing the distractions that result from large crowds in confined spaces. In each prayer room, care should be taken to ensure temperatures are appropriate, uplifting pictures are hung around the room for additional pictorial inspiration, and, as noted above, each room contains multiple role models participating in the prayer services. Incorporating short daily or weekly prayer education sessions targeted at improving prayer quality at opportune moments during prayer services could also aid in improving student prayer as it may provide a new dimension of student thought in the moment.

V. Limitations

As a limitation of this study, all data relied on self-report responses. Although teachers were informed that their responses would be kept anonymous and shared only in aggregate form, there was room for social desirability bias where teachers may have been compelled to respond in a fashion that represents how they wanted to be perceived rather than providing responses that reflected their honest opinions and practices. For students, the SDRS-5 was utilized to evaluate the presence of social desirability responses and scores indicated minimal bias. However,

although inconsistencies emerged infrequently, there still may have been response bias as indicated by inconsistencies found in some responses between teachers and students. For example, all four teachers indicated that they do not formally educate students in prayer, yet only 52% of students indicated that they never received formal prayer education in the classroom as defined as "a set time devoted to the subject of prayer" in class. These inconsistencies appear to have emerged from a lack of specificity in some of the survey questions.

Additionally, for student surveys there was no formal evaluation for reliability or internal consistency implemented. This left room for threats to internal and external reliability. Regarding internal reliability, one may extract important information about student behavior and thoughts regarding prayer from this study, however one cannot form causational conclusions about the relationship between the two. Additional questions targeted to such interactions between data points could possibly provide causational data. Regarding external reliability, the sample consisted of a relatively small randomized group within the ninth-grade of one homogenous boys' modern-orthodox school. While conclusions might be relatable to other students in this setting and perhaps students in other similar educational settings, the homogeneity of this study limits the generalizability of conclusions to other populations. The data does not reflect how females relate to prayer, how males learn and relate to prayer in co-educational settings, or how males in single-gender educational settings relate to prayer beyond the Jewish modern-orthodox school systems.

VI. Suggestions for Future Research

Education of religious prayer is an area that is largely understudied with nearly no scientific studies dedicated to the field of Jewish prayer in particular. As this study indicated,

Jewish prayer education requires improvement and therefore it is incumbent upon researchers to further this field of study and improve pedagogical methods.

Further research in Jewish prayer is needed for both content and population. Regarding content, it would be beneficial to better understand how an individual's family and community impact his or her relationship with prayer. The investigator firmly believes that when it comes to religious matters, families and schools share a partnership in educating a child. Religious education is not relegated to classroom education alone but requires shared values and active role-modeling from parents and community members in addition to teachers. Based on this premise, it would be important to study how frequently and with what methods parents encourage their children to pray. Included in this area of study, it would be of interest to explore parent attitudes toward prayer, their current prayer quality, their frequency in attending prayer services at synagogue, and the impact this has on their children.

Future study should focus more on what students find meaningful about prayer so as to expand on areas already meeting with success, and on what is impeding students' ability to find meaning in prayer so as to better address these needs in the classroom setting. Also, future studies should include more detailed questions regarding prior prayer education to better understand what has and has not been focused on in the past so that improvements could be made in prayer education in elementary and middle schools as well. Similar to Ene's proposed layout of prayer curricula across age-ranges that build upon each other and consistent with Piaget and Elkind's stages of development as detailed in chapter II, it appears beneficial to design a prayer education that challenges students to improve their understanding of prayer commensurate with their developmental ages. With a larger educational framework focused on prayer, it is possible that by the time students reach ninth-grade a significantly larger percentage

of students should be able to translate and extract personal meaning from 75-100% of the prayer text and thereby allow ninth-grade teachers to focus their prayer curricula on adolescent-appropriate material such as student relationships with God and their own identities. Lastly, it would likely be beneficial to ask students what has and has not worked for them in the past regarding prayer education to better evaluate, modify, and develop effective teaching methodologies for prayer.

Regarding populations for future studies, this study focused on a small homogenous study sample, which limited its generalizability to educational institutions with similar constructs. A larger study surveying all-girls schools, and co-educational schools could potentially help improve education of prayer across other Jewish modern-orthodox high schools. However, it would be worthwhile to also study prayer education in Jewish modern-orthodox elementary and middle schools to evaluate and improve prayer education on those levels, so that when students arrive in high school prayer education can focus on developmentally appropriate content rather than translation of prayer text and extracting basic personal meaning. Lastly, there is need to replicate this study and the abovementioned future studies for other sects of Judaism as well. Quality of prayer and prayer education appear to be pervasive concerns across sects of Judaism and across religions as well. These challenges will be better addressed with the illumination of student-based and teacher-based data rather than blindly continuing current methods that appear to be lacking success with 21st century students. With school administrations and teachers that share an interest in effectively aiding their students to develop religiously and spiritually, coupled with an awareness of student needs, such as the teachers and administrators in the current study, future research may positively impact students' ability to relate to God and pray meaningfully.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed Sayeed, S., & Prakash, A. (2013). The Islamic prayer (Salah/Namaaz) and yoga togetherness in mental health. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, 224-230.
- Baer, R. A. (2010). Assessing Mindfulness and Acceptance Processes in Clients: Illuminating the Theory and Practice of Change. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications.
- Barnes, P. M., Powell-Griner, E., McFann, K., & Nahin, R. L. (2004). Complementary and alternative medicine use among adults. *Seminars in Integrative Medicine*, 54-71.
- Baron, K. A. (2017). Changing to Concept-Based Curricula: The Process for Nurse Educators. *The Open Nursing Journal*, 277-287.
- Brenner, B. B. (2013). Engaging the teenage soul: introducing the NCSY siddur. Jewish Action.
- Brock, L. L., Nishida, T. K., Chiong, C., Grimm, K. J., & Rimm-Kaufman, S. E. (2008). Children's perceptions of the classroom environment and social and academic performance: A longitudinal analysis of the contribution of the Responsive Classroom approach. *Journal of School Psychology*, 129-149.
- Broderick, P. C., & Blewitt, P. (2015). *The Life Span; Human Development for Helping Professionals, Fouth Edition*. Boston: Pearson.
- Cheng, F. K. (2016). Is meditation conducive to mental well-being for adolescents? An integrative review for mental health nursing. *International Journal of Africa Nursing Sciences*, 7-19.
- Costa, A. L., & Loveall, R. A. (2002). The Lagacy of Hilda Taba. *Journal of curriculum and supervision*, 56-62.
- Dakwar, E., & Levin, F. R. (2009). The Emerging Role of Meditation in Addressing Psychiatric Illness, with a Focus on Substance Use Disorders. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*, 254–267.
- Davis, D. M., & Hayes, J. A. (2011). What Are the Benefits of Mindfulness? A Practice Review of Psychotherapy-Related Research. *Psychotherapy*, 198-208.
- Doufesh, H., Faisal, T., & Lim, K.-S. (2012). EEG Spectral Analysis on Muslim Prayers. *Applied Psychophysiological Biofeedback*, 37:11–18.
- Dreilich, M. (2017). Identifying key factors influencing adolscents prayer education in a modern orthodox school: teacher student and environmental components. 1-141.
- Elkind, D. (1961). The Child"s Conception of his religious denomination: I. The Jewish Child. *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 209-225.
- Elkind, D. (1962). The child's conceptions of his religious denomination II: The Catholic Child. *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 185-193.
- Elkind, D. (1963). The Child's Conceptions of His Religious Denomination III: The Protestant Child . *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 291-304.
- Elkind, D. (1978). The Child's Reality: Three Developmental Themes. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Elkind, D. (1982). Piagetian Psychology and the Practice of Child Psychiatry. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry*, 435-445.
- Elkind, D. (1996). Inhelder and Piaget on Adolescence and adulthood: A Postmodern Appraisal. *Psychological Science*, 216-220.
- Elkind, D. (1999). Religious Development in Adolescence. Journal of Adolescence, 291-295.
- Ene, I. (2015). Religious Education Between Aspirationa nd Reality. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 326-331.
- Farsi, M., & Munro, M. (2016). Design and Implementation of an Interactive System for Teaching the Islamic Prayer. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 139-148.
- Finchman, F. D., & Beach, S. (2014). I Say a Little Prayer for You: Praying for Partner Increases Commitment in Romantic Relationships. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 589-593.
- Flanagan, O. J. (1984). The Science of the Mind. Massachusetts: MIT Press.
- Glaser, & Barney. (2008). What is Grounded Theory? Retrieved from Grounded Theory Institute: A Non-Profit Organization: http://www.groundedtheory.com/what-is-gt.aspx
- Goldberg, S. J., Pelcovitz, D., & Rosenberg, J. (2010). Nourishing the Adolescent Soul: Insights and Recommendations to Support Religious and Spiritual Growth. *HaYidion*, 18-21, & 68.
- Goldmintz, J. (2007). *The Art of Tefillah*. Retrieved from The Lookstein Center for Jewish Education: http://www.lookstein.org/online_journal.php?id=150
- Goldmintz, J. (2009). Helping Students Find Their Own Voice in Tefillah: A Conceptual Framework for Teachers. In R. Medoff, *Rav Chesed: Essays in honor of Rabbi Dr. Haskel Lookstein* (pp. 225-250). KTAV Punlishing House.
- Good, M., & Willoughby, T. (2008). Adolescence as a Sensitive Period for Spiritual Development. *Child Development Perspectives*, 32-37.
- Gottlieb, E. (2006). Development of Religious Thinking. Religious Education, 242-260.
- Grier, L., & Gudiel, W. (2011). Can religious beliefs combat negative peer influence during adolescence? *Mental Health, Religion & Culture*, 983–997.
- Gutierrez, D., Fox, J., & Wood, A. W. (2015). Center, Light, and Sound: The Psychological Benefits of Three Distinct Meditative Practices. *Counseling and Values*, 234-247.
- Hays, R. D. (1989). A five item measure of socially desirable response set. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 629 636.
- Hofmann, S. G., Sawyer, A. T., Witt, A. A., & Oh, D. (2010). The Effect of Mindfulness-Based Therapy on Anxiety and Depression:. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 169-183.
- Hunkins, F. P., & Hammill, P. A. (1994). Beyond Tyler and Taba: Reconceptualizing the Curriculum Process. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 4-18.

- James, W. (1963). The Varieties of Religious Experiences. New York: University Press.
- Karo, J. (1563). Shulchan Aruch (Vol. Ohr Ha'Chaim). Tzfat, Israel.
- Keeter, S., McGeeney, K., & Mercer, A. (2015, May 12). *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved December 1, 2016, from Religious Landscape Study: http://www.pewforum.org/religious-landscape-study/
- Laanemets, U., & Kalamees-Ruubel, K. (2013). The Taba-Tyler Rationales. *Journal of the American Association for the Advancement of Curriculum Studies*, 1-12.
- Ladd, K. L., & Spilka, B. (2002). Inward, Outward, and Upward: Cognitive Aspects of Prayer. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 475–484.
- Lambert, N. M., Fincham, F. D., Stillman, T. F., Graham, S. M., & Beach, S. (2010). Motivating Change in Relationships:Can Prayer Increase Forgiveness? *Psychological Science*, 126-132.
- Lamm, N. (1990). The Encounter of Religious Learning and Worldly Knowledge in the Jewish Tradition. *Torah U'Maddah*, 24-25.
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2008). Qualitative Data Analysis: A Compendium of Techniques and a Framework for Selection for School Psychology Research and Beyond. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 587-604.
- Levinson, J. A., & Fendrick, S. P. (2013). *Turn it and turn it again: Studies in the teaching and learning classical Jewish texts.* Boston: Academic Studies Press.
- Lipman, S. (2013). Can schools do a better job of teaching tefillah? Jewish Action Magazine.
- Lourenco, O., & Machado, A. (1996). In Defense of Piaget's Theory: A Reply to 10 Common Criticisms. *Psychological Review*, 143-164.
- Markstrom, C. A. (1999). Religious Involvement and Adolescent Psychosocial Development. *Journal of Adolescence*, 205-221.
- McCaffrey, A., Eisenberg, D., Legedza, A., Davis, R., & Phillips, R. (2004). Prayer For Health Concerns: Results of a National Survey on Prevalence and Patterns of Use. *Arch Intern Med*, 858 862.
- McCullough, M. E., & Larson, D. B. (1999). Integrating spirituality into treatment: Resources for practitioners. *American Psychological Association*, 85-110.
- Milevsky, A., & Eisenberg, M. (2012). Spiritually Oriented Treatment With Jewish Clients:. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 336-340.
- N. R. (2017, September 28). *The Nishma Research Profile of American Modern Orthodox Jews.* Nishma Research.
- National Research Council. (2013). *Education for Life and Work: Guide for Practitioners.* Washington, D.C.: The National Academies Press.
- Newberg, A., Pourdehnad, M., Alavi, A., & D'Aquili, E. G. (2003). Cerebral Blood Flow During Meditative Prayer: Preliminary Findings And Methodological Issues. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 625-630.

- Pădure, R. (2013). Theology: Jewish Prayer Books . The Scientific Journal of Humanistic Studies , 149-151.
- Parry, L. J. (2000). Transcending National Boundaries: Hilda Taba and the "New Social Studies" in Australia, 1969 to 1981. *The Social Studies*, 69-78.
- Parry, L. J. (2000). Transcending National Boundaries: Hilda Taba and the "New Social Studies" in Australia, 1969 to 1981. *The Social Studies*, 91:2, 69-78.
- Pew Research Center. (2013, Ocober 1). A Portrait of Jewish Americans. Retrieved from Pew Research Center: http://www.pewforum.org/2013/10/01/jewish-american-beliefs-attitudes-culture-survey/
- Prince, J. t. (189). Ethics of Our Fathers Pirkei Avos. Judea.
- Prince, J. t. (200). Berakhot. Judea.
- Ravina, & Ashi, R. (500). Talmud Berakhot. Babylonia.
- Riafadilah, A., & Mukhidin, M. (2017). Implementation Model's Taba in Geography Curriculum. *Earth and Environmental Science*, 1-5.
- Sacks, J. (2009). The Power of Jewish Prayer. Jewish Action.
- Savel, R. H., & Munro, C. L. (2017). Quiet the mind: Minfulness, meditation, and the search for inner peace. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 433-437.
- Schick, M. (2009). *A Census of Jewish Day Schools in the United States 2008-2009.* New York: Avi Chai Foundation.
- Schnall, E. (2006). Multicultural Counseling. Journal of Counseling & Development, 276-282.
- Seeman, T. E., Dubin, L. F., & Seeman, M. (2003). Religiosity/Spirituality and Health: A Critical Review of the Evidence for Biological Pathways. *American Psychologist*, 53-63.
- Soloveitchik, J. B. (2003). *Worship of the Heart: Essays on Jewish Prayer.* Jersey City: KTAV Publishing House, Inc. .
- Surinruta, P., Auamnoy, T., & Sangwatanaroj, S. (2016). Enhanced happiness and stress alleviation upon insight meditation retreat: mindfulness, a part of traditional Buddhist meditation. *Mental Health, Religion, and Culture*, 648–659.
- Taba, H. (1962). Curriculum and Development; Theory and Practice. New York: Harcourt, Brace & World.
- Taba, H. (1962). Curriculum Development: Theory and Practice. New York: Harcourt Brace and World.
- Townsend, M., Kladder, V., Ayele, H., & Mulligan, T. (2002). Systematic Review of Clinical Trials Examining the Effects of Religion on Health. *Southern Medical Journal*, 1429-1434.
- Trezise, R. L. (1972). The Hilda Taba Teaching Strategies in English and Reading Classes. *The English Journal*, 577-580+593.

TEACHING PRAYER IN JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOLS FOR BOYS

- Vésteinsdóttir, V., Reips, U.-D., Joinson, A., & Thorsdottir, F. (2017). An item level evaluation of the Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale using item response theory on Icelandic Internet panel data and cognitive interviews. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 164–173.
- Wachholtz, A., Sambamoorthi, U., & Morgantown, W. (2013). National Trends in Prayer Use as a Coping Mechanism for Health Concerns: Changes From 2002 to 2007. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 1356-1368.
- Wendt, S., Hipps, J., Abrams, A., Grant, J., Valosek, L., & Nidich, S. (2015). Practicing Transcendental Meditation in High Schools: Relationship to Well-being and Academic Achievement Among Students. *Contemporary School Pscyhology*, 312–319.
- Wuthnow, R. (2008). Prayer, cognition, and culture. Poetics, 333-337.
- Yeres, M. J. (2018, January). *Hayidion, the Prizmah Journal*. Retrieved from www.Prizmah.org: https://prizmah.org/teaching-prayer
- Ziden, A. A., & Rahman, M. F. (2013). The Effectiveness of Web-Based Multimedia Applications Simulation in Teaching and Learning. *international Journal of Instruction*, 211-222.

APPENDIX A

Teacher Interview

This is an anonymous interview. Your name will not be shared in connection with any of your responses; responses will only be shared in aggregate form, together with the other interviews conducted. Please speak only of your experiences rather than the experiences of others or desired experiences, unless specifically asked otherwise. There is no judgment in this interview. This survey should take roughly 20 minutes to complete. Thank you in advance for sharing your honest thoughts, opinions, and experiences.

1)	What subject(s) do you teach?					
2)	How many years have you taught in this school?					
3)	How many years have you taught altogether?					
4)	How is your curriculum established? (i.e. Are you provided with a pre-established curriculum from the school? Does the school give you general guidelines for forming your own curriculum? Etc.)					
	a. Does the school allow for you to incorporate personal areas of interest into the lesson plan?b. If so, what "extra" items do you typically incorporate in your curriculum?					
5)	Do you typically pray (daven) with your students? a. If so, what value do you feel this serves?					
6)	Keeping in mind the age of your students, I'm going to ask you several scale-based questions, 1-10, where "1" is the absolute worst an area could be and "10" is ideal. How would you rate the students'; a. Understanding of what the words of prayers mean b. Ability to relate to the words of prayer (i.e. beyond literal meaning) c. Engagement in prayer (focused) d. Perception of prayer (ex: useless – meaningful) e. Overall quality of prayer f. If different, what do you think would be a more reasonable expectation for the quality of students' prayer in school (from that same scale of 1-10?)					
7)	Is prayer (tefillah) part of your formal curriculum? (i.e. is there time set aside specifically for teaching prayer on a regular basis)					

- a. If YES,
 - i. Please elaborate (what specifically about prayer is taught and how is it taught):
 - ii. Are there particular strategies/techniques/models that you utilize in teaching prayer?
 - iii. How often is it taught?

TEACHING PRAYER IN JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOLS FOR BOYS

- iv. What are your goals when teaching prayer? (understanding meaning of words? Making text of prayer relatable? Making experience of praying meaningful? Etc.)
- v. How do you monitor if these goals are met?
- b. If NO, does prayer occasionally come up as a discussion point in class?
 - i. How often?
 - ii. Is this intended or happens by chance when related to other subjects?
 - iii. Do you believe that prayer should be incorporated into the school curriculum? Why/why not?
- 8) What do you think would be the biggest challenge in beginning a new curriculum for prayer?
- 9) How do you think focusing on improving an adolescent students' connectivity to prayer could be beneficial for that student?
- 10) Do you think there is more school could do to improve the quality of student prayers? Please explain:

APPENDIX B Student Survey

This is an anonymous survey. Please be as honest as possible and speak only of <u>your experiences</u>. There is no judgment. This entire survey should take roughly 15-20 minutes to complete. Thank you in advance for taking a few moments to consider each question and sharing your honest thoughts, opinions, and experiences.

For each of the 5 questions listed in the table below, please place an "X" in the corresponding box. Do not mark more than one "X" per question.

Questions	Definitely True	Mostly True	Don't Know	Mostly False	Definitely False
	Truc	Truc	KIIOW	raisc	raisc
1) I am always					
courteous to people who are disagreeable					
2) There have been					
occasions where I					
took advantage of					
someone					
3) I sometimes try to get					
even rather than					
forgive and forget					
4) I sometimes feel					
resentful when I don't					
get my way					
5) No matter who I'm					
talking to I'm always					
a good listener					

Please <u>circle the answers</u> below that most accurately reflect your experiences. <u>Please do not leave any questions blank</u>. Feel free to write a short note where you feel answers require further explanation.

Background:

,	0 0	to an orthodox Jewish scho Elementary school (1-5 th gra	-	iddle school (6-8 th grade)	High
2) O	n a typical schoo	ol day I pray;			
0 times	1 time	2 times	3 times	more than 3 times	mes
3) O	n a typical <u>non-s</u>	school day (Friday or Sunda	ay depend	ing on time of year) I pray	;
0 times	1 time	2 times	3 times	more than 3 ti	
4) O	n a typical schoo	ol day I usually pray <u>with a</u>	minimum	of ten people (minyan);	
0 times	1 time	2 times	3 times	more than 3 ti	mes

5) 0 times			l usually pray <u>w</u> time s	vith a minimum o 3 times	<u>f ten people (min</u> more than	
6)	On a typical no service)	on-school day,	my parents enc	ourage me to atte	end shacharis (m	orning
Almost	Always	Often		Sometimes	N	lever
7)	My father pray	ys in synagogu	e (shul) three ti	mes a day		
,	Always	Often	,	Sometimes	N	lever
8)	When I'm hom	e for Shabbat	, I pray alongsio	le my father		
Almost	Always	Often		Sometimes	N	lever
	ity of Prayer When I pray in		ne, I have a spe	cific seat/section t	that I sit in	
	Always	Often	_	Sometimes		lever
10)	When I pray <u>ir</u>	school, I have	e a specific seat/	section that I sit i	in	
Almost	Always	Often		Sometimes	N	lever
		_		l <u>y</u> arrive at shul; late More than	10 minutes late	I don't go
12)	On a typical Sl	nabbat mornin	g I <u>usually</u> arri	ve at synagogue (shul);	
At least	t 5 minutes early	On Time	5-10 minutes	late More than	10 minutes late	I don't go
13)				norning prayer in se.	to English, I wou	ıld be able t
75- 100)%	50- 75%	e words with ea 25- :	50%	0-25%	
14)	When I pray, I	am careful to	say every word			
	Always	Often		Sometimes	N	lever
	When I pray sl Always	nacharit (morn Often	ning prayers) I a	am focused for ne Sometimes	-	e rvice Never
16)	For what perce you say them?	entage of praye	ers do you typic	ally think about t	the <u>meaning</u> of th	ie words as
75- 100)%	50- 75%	25- :	50%	0-25%	
,	The words of p	orayer have de Often	ep or personal <u>r</u>	neaning for me w Sometimes		n Never
Almost	Always	Often		nd feelings to Goo Sometimes	N	lever
ŕ			•	ed I usually incor	_	
Almost	Always	Often		Sometimes	N	Jever

20) I feel the prese	ence of (or a close connection	with) God while I pray at	t least 2 times <u>A WEEK</u>
Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
21) Whether befor myself standin	re, during, or after I pray, the g before God	re is a point nearly every	day when <u>I envision</u>
Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
22) My mind wand	lers during nraver		
Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
23) I feel that my p	orayers take on a different mo	eaning each day	
Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
24) For how much	of prayer are you thinking a	bout and focused on God	?
Almost All	Most	Some	Barely any
25) I would go to s there	ynagogue to pray even if I kn	ew no family members o	r friends would be
Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
26) Overall, I usua	ally find prayer to be a meani	ngful experience	
Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
Uplifting Boring To	ū		onfusing Pointless
	ormally teach prayer in <u>class</u> ((e.g. set time devoted to t	he subject of prayer)
Every Day Never	Once a Week	Once a Mon	
29) My teachers <u>in</u> Every Day Never	<u>iformally</u> teach prayer in <u>clas</u> Once a Week	<u>s</u> (e.g. it comes up in clas Once a Mon	• •
· •	ormally teach prayer in the <u>prayer in the prayer on a daily l</u>		
Every Day Never	Once a Week	Once a Mon	
31) My teachers p	rovide and encourage optiona	al opportunities to learn a	about prayer (ex:

learning groups [chaburot]/electives/clubs etc.)

TEACHING PRAYER IN JEWISH MODERN-ORTHODOX HIGH SCHOOLS FOR BOYS

Every Day Never	Once a Week	Once a Month					
32) The last time I can years old;	n remember being formally t	aught prayer in school, I was	roughly				
4-7 (Pre-K -2 nd grade)	8-10 (3 rd -5 th grade)	11-13 (Middle School	l)				
14 – current (High School	I can't remember	ber ever being taught prayer in school					
33) I think about ques	33) I think about questions relating to God that are difficult to answer						
Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never				
34) Attendance is take	en to see if I am at prayer in s	school					
Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never				
, -	35) My school monitors me during prayer to ensure I am engaged						
Almost Always	Often	Sometimes	Never				
36) My teachers pray Almost Always	with me during prayers in so Often	Sometimes	Never				
37) I feel comfortable Definitely True At All	speaking with a Rebbe (teac Mostly true	her) about difficult questions Sometimes True	relating to God Not True				
38) This school year, a prayer at least one True / Fa	ce	to critically think about the q	uality of my				
	room instruction, prayer-the	orayer in class such as special med pictures, and handouts t					
40) The quality of my True / Fa	prayers have improved since	e I began high school					
41) I am interested in True / Fa	improving the quality of my alse	prayer					